Published for SISSA by 🖉 Springer

RECEIVED: August 8, 2013 ACCEPTED: October 2, 2013 PUBLISHED: October 21, 2013

Testable two-loop radiative neutrino mass model based on an $LLQd^cQd^c$ effective operator

Paul W. Angel, Yi Cai, Nicholas L. Rodd, Michael A. Schmidt and Raymond R. Volkas

ARC Centre of Excellence for Particle Physics at the Terascale, School of Physics, University of Melbourne, Victoria 3010, Australia E-mail: pangel@student.unimelb.edu.au, yi.cai@unimelb.edu.au, nrodd@student.unimelb.edu.au, michael.schmidt@unimelb.edu.au, raymondv@unimelb.edu.au

ABSTRACT: A new two-loop radiative Majorana neutrino mass model is constructed from the gauge-invariant effective operator $L^i L^j Q^k d^c Q^l d^c \epsilon_{ik} \epsilon_{jl}$ that violates lepton number conservation by two units. The ultraviolet completion features two scalar leptoquark flavors and a color-octet Majorana fermion. We show that there exists a region of parameter space where the neutrino oscillation data can be fitted while simultaneously meeting flavorviolation and collider bounds. The model is testable through lepton flavor-violating processes such as $\mu \to e\gamma$, $\mu \to eee$, and $\mu N \to eN$ conversion, as well as collider searches for the scalar leptoquarks and color-octet fermion. We computed and compiled a list of necessary Passarino-Veltman integrals up to boxes in the approximation of vanishing external momenta and made them available as a Mathematica package, denoted as ANT.

KEYWORDS: Beyond Standard Model, Neutrino Physics

ARXIV EPRINT: 1308.0463



Contents

1	Introduction	1			
2	2 The model	3			
3	8 Neutrino masses	5			
	3.1 Flavor structure of the matrix of integrals I	7			
	3.2 Understanding the neutrino flavor structure	9			
	3.2.1 Normal mass ordering	9			
	3.2.2 Inverted mass ordering	10			
4	Constraints from flavor physics relevant to neutrino mass generat	ion <mark>10</mark>			
	4.1 Radiative lepton flavor violating decays $l_i^- \to l_j^- \gamma$	11			
	4.2 Anomalous magnetic moment	13			
	4.3 LFV rare decay $\mu^- \rightarrow e^- e^+ e^-$	14			
	4.4 $\mu \leftrightarrow e$ conversion in nuclei	16			
	4.5 Other constraints	18			
	4.5.1 Processes from $\Delta F = 0$ operators generated at tree level	18			
	4.5.2 Meson mixing	20			
	4.5.3 Constraints from the $b \rightarrow s$ transition	23			
	4.5.4 $\Delta F = 1$ flavor changing neutral current processes at one-loop le	evel 24			
5	Constraints from other flavor- and lepton-number violating proces	sses 25			
	5.1 Constraints induced by right-handed coupling of the third generation	25			
	5.2 Constraints from flavor-violating processes induced by coupling to the	first			
	two generations of quarks	26			
	5.3 Neutrinoless double beta-decay	29			
6	Collider constraints	30			
	6.1 Scalar leptoquark	30			
	6.2 Fermionic colored octet	31			
7	Naturalness constraints				
	7.1 Contributions to the SM Higgs	32			
	7.2 Naturalness of the leptoquark masses	33			
8	3 Mathematica code	33			
9	Summary and conclusions	34			

\mathbf{A}	More details of flavor physics				
	A.1 $l_i \rightarrow l_j \gamma$	36			
	A.2 $\mu^- \rightarrow e^- e^+ e^-$	36			
	A.3 $\mu \leftrightarrow e$ conversion in nuclei	37			
в	Calculation of $I_{ijlphaeta}$	37			
С	Analytic expressions for certain Passarino-Veltman integrals	39			
D	Effective operator approach to neutrino masses	43			

1 Introduction

Uncovering the origin of neutrino masses and mixing angles is one of the most important problems in physics beyond the standard model (SM). The minimal scenario is simply to add three right-handed neutrino fields to the SM and then write down all the new gauge invariant terms in the Lagrangian. One class of new terms is a set of electroweak Yukawa couplings of the right-handed neutrinos to the lepton doublets and the Higgs doublet, which by themselves would lead to Dirac neutrino masses, putting neutrinos on par with the other quarks and leptons in terms of mass generation. However, neutrinos have been observed to be extremely light, with cosmological constraints requiring the sum of their masses to be sub-eV. While this can be accommodated by having suitably tiny neutrino Yukawa coupling constants, this ignores the likely truth that the anomalously small neutrino masses are an indication of a different origin. The most obvious difference is revealed by recognizing the second class of new Lagrangian terms: the bare Majorana masses for the gauge-singlet right-handed neutrinos. In the see-saw limit where these Majorana masses M are far above the electroweak scale v, the neutral lepton sector breaks up into a sub-sector of three very light left-handed Majorana neutrinos of mass scale v^2/M and a second sub-sector of three very massive neutral leptons at the scale M.

This type-I see-saw scenario is economical, elegant, compelling, and extremely difficult to test experimentally [1-5].¹ The difficulties are that the favored scale for M is far above the TeV scale being explored at the LHC, and even if the scale is brought down to a TeV the heavy neutral fermions have highly suppressed gauge interactions and thus are difficult to produce and detect. The type-II [9–14] and type-III [15] see-saw variations are more testable because the required scalar triplet and fermion triplets, respectively, at least have electroweak gauge interactions. But the favored see-saw scale is still far higher than a TeV.

Alternative neutrino mass generation schemes are worth exploring. One motivation is that nature is not always minimal. For example, when Pauli introduced the neutrino to solve the apparent energy conservation problem in beta decay, he also proposed that same particle to perform the role now known to be played by the neutron in nuclear structure.

¹Note that there is some region of parameter space which might be testable at colliders. See e.g. ref. [6–8].

While minimal models will always, justifiably, attract the greater attention, we should devote some effort to non-minimal models unless experimental results tell us not to bother. On the origin of neutrino mass, experiment has yet to speak. Now, many non-minimal neutrino mass models are also more testable than the see-saw models, so the new physics they predict should be searched for. By constraining non-minimal models, or perhaps ruling some of them out, we increase the circumstantial evidence in favor of the simpler but less-testable schemes such as the type-I see-saw model. Of course, we could also find to our surprise that one of the more involved theories is actually correct.

An important class of non-minimal theories are the radiative neutrino mass models. It can be arranged for nonzero neutrino masses to first arise at loop level rather than at tree level, and this may be a (partial) explanation for why neutrino masses are so small. The first radiative neutrino mass models at one-loop level were proposed in refs. [16], at twoloop order in refs. [14, 17, 18] and with three loops in ref. [19]. Three-loop models with large couplings like the ones proposed in ref. [19–22] as well as two-loop models with new colored states as proposed in ref. [23–25] are particularly interesting phenomenologically, because they promise to be easier to test experimentally. Several authors tried to combine neutrino mass generation with other unsolved problems of physics beyond the SM, e.g. the first papers simultaneously addressing dark matter were refs. [19, 26, 27], and for baryogenesis they were refs. [28-30]. The proposed models vastly differ in their complexity as well as predictive power. In recent years, several groups systematically studied radiative neutrino mass generation: e.g. one-loop radiative neutrino mass models [31, 32], simple models with only two new particles [33, 34], classes of models with a discrete symmetry and a DM candidate [35, 36], the use of effective operators of the type $LLHH(H^{\dagger}H)^{n}$ [37, 38] (where L is a lepton doublet and H is the Higgs doublet) as well as a general classification in terms of $\Delta L = 2$ operators [39–41]. Radiative neutrino mass generation is certainly a logical alternative to the see-saw procedure, and should be thoroughly explored.

The purpose of this paper is not only to propose another testable radiative neutrino mass model at two-loop order, but also to exemplify that the new physics due to the exotic particles and their interactions cannot be arbitrarily weak. We demonstrate that there is a region of parameter space where the neutrino oscillation data can be accommodated while simultaneously complying with constraints from the null observations of rare flavor-changing processes and the absence of exotic particles in collider searches. In this specific model, the exotic particles in the theory are two copies of a certain scalar leptoquark as well as a color-octet Majorana fermion. When these heavy exotics are integrated out, a $\Delta L = 2$ effective operator with flavor content $LLQd^cQd^c$ is generated. The model can be tested by performing high precision searches for lepton flavor-violating processes such as $\mu \to e\gamma$, $\mu \to eee$, and $\mu N \to eN$ conversion, as well as through collider searches for the leptoquarks and the colored exotic fermion, while the requirement to generate the correct neutrino oscillation parameters (in particular, one neutrino must be heavier than the "atmospheric" lower bound of $0.05 \, \text{eV}$ [42]) imposes an upper bound on the new physics scale.

The next section defines the new model and places it in the context of the "theory space" of radiative neutrino mass models, using underlying effective operators as the structuring principle. Section 3 then computes the neutrino masses and mixing angles. Constraints from flavor-violating processes induced by the couplings required by the generation of neutrino mass are examined in section 4, while the remaining ones and neutrinoless double beta-decay, which both give no constraints to the parameters relevant to the generation of neutrino mass, are discussed in section 5. Then collider constraints are discussed in section 6. Finally, we discuss naturalness in the context of this model and give the preferred region of parameter space in section 7. A publicly available Mathematica code, denoted as ANT,² for calculating relevant loop integrals is described in section 8. In section 9, we summarize all the constraints and draw the conclusions.

2 The model

A very useful organizing principle for radiative Majorana neutrino mass models is the effective operator analysis pioneered by Babu and Leung (BL) [39], and followed-up by de Gouvêa and Jenkins (GJ) [40]. These operators are invariant under the SM gauge group and respect baryon-number conservation, but violate lepton-number conservation by two units. They are constructed from the SM quark and lepton multiplets (with no right-handed neutrinos) and a single Higgs doublet.

Such operators exist at odd mass-dimension. At dimension-5, there is a unique operator (up to family replication): the Weinberg operator, denoted $\mathcal{O}_1 \equiv LLHH$ in an efficient notation. The LL structure is shorthand for $(L_L)^c L_L$. This non-renormalizable operator may be "opened up" — derived from an underlying renormalizable or ultra-violet (UV) complete theory — in three minimal ways at tree-level. These three possibilities are precisely the type-I, -II and -III see-saw models. The advantage of the effective operator perspective is that it encourages you to systematically construct all sensible UV completions, so no possibilities are missed.

This technique can be extended to radiative neutrino mass models. All the $\Delta L = 2$ effective operators of dimension-7 and higher that are not of the form $\mathcal{O}_1(\overline{H}H)^n$ necessarily contain some fields different from left-handed neutrinos and neutral Higgs bosons. To turn such operators into self-energy diagrams for neutrinos, those other particles have to be closed off through loops. Therefore the study of how such operators can generate neutrino masses is the study of radiative neutrino mass models. The see-saw models exist at the tree-level end of an extensive family of Majorana neutrino-mass models founded upon SM $\Delta L = 2$ operators. Some of the present authors used this approach in [41] to systematically classify the neutrino self-energy diagram topologies and the exotic scalars and fermions they contain. That work builds on the analyses of BL and GJ in providing a guide to the construction of all radiative neutrino mass models that obey certain conditions: the gauge group is that of the SM and no larger, the left-handed neutrinos are Majorana, right-handed neutrinos are absent, there is a single Higgs doublet, and the exotic particles are scalars and fermions only.

In this paper we use the foundations just described to construct a new 2-loop neutrinomass model based on the operator

$$\mathcal{O}_{11b} \equiv L^i L^j Q^k d^c Q^l d^c \epsilon_{ik} \epsilon_{jl} \,, \tag{2.1}$$

²It can be downloaded from http://ant.hepforge.org.

where we adopt the notation of [39–41]. The label 11b tells us that this operator is number 11 in the BL list, and the i, j, k, l = 1, 2 SU(2) index structure is of type b. Written with explicit Lorentz structure it is

$$\mathcal{O}_{11b} \equiv \overline{(L_L)^{ci}} L_L^j \,\overline{(Q_L)^{ck}} (d_R)^c \,\overline{(Q_L)^{cl}} (d_R)^c \,\epsilon_{ik} \,\epsilon_{jl} = \overline{(L_L)^{ci}} L_L^j \,\overline{d}_R Q_L^k \,\overline{d}_R Q_L^l \,\epsilon_{ik} \,\epsilon_{jl} \,. \tag{2.2}$$

Of course it is understood that there is a set of such operators because of the family structure of quarks and leptons.

We now use the procedure of [41] to construct an underlying theory. Table IV of [41] tells us to look at figure 10 for completions involving scalars only, and figures 14 B-D for completions using both scalars and fermions. We choose the latter option, partly because the existing well-studied radiative neutrino mass models use exotic scalars exclusively, and so it is interesting to examine a different possibility. The text discussing figure 14 then informs us that diagrams B, C and D are applicable to exotic vector-like Dirac fermions, while only the diagrams in D allow the fermion to be Majorana. We choose the Majorana option, which limits us to diagram D1 and D2, from which we select D2. Making the only allowed identifications of the fermion lines with the fields in \mathcal{O}_{11b} , we arrive at almost a unique model. The remaining choices are the weak isospin assignments of the scalar and Majorana fermion, and the color of the Majorana fermion.

We choose the exotic scalar and fermion multiplets to be, respectively,

$$\phi \sim (3^*, 1, 1/3), \quad f_L \sim (8, 1, 0),$$
(2.3)

where the first entry is color, the second weak isospin and the third hypercharge (normalized so that electric charge $Q = I_L + Y$). We shall see shortly that two copies of ϕ are required to produce two neutrino mass eigenvalues of appropriate magnitude, while one copy of fsuffices. In section 3 we shall see that the model with three copies of ϕ , which produces three neutrino masses, is disfavored by constraints from flavor physics.

The Yukawa couplings of these exotics to SM fields and the various bare masses are given in

$$-\Delta \mathcal{L} = \left(\lambda_{ij\alpha}^{LQ} \overline{L}_i^c Q_j \phi_\alpha + \lambda_{i\alpha}^{df} \overline{d}_i f \phi_\alpha^* + \frac{1}{2} m_f \overline{f}^c f + H.c.\right) + m_{\phi_\alpha}^2 \phi_\alpha^\dagger \phi_\alpha \tag{2.4a}$$

$$-\left(\lambda_{ij\alpha}^{eu}\,\overline{e}_i^c\,u_j\,\phi_\alpha + H.c.\right)\,,\tag{2.4b}$$

where i, j = 1, 2, 3 are quark-lepton family indices, $\alpha = a, b$ denotes the two copies of ϕ , and chirality labels and gauge indices have been suppressed to reduce clutter. Note that the ϕ 's are scalar leptoquarks, and the choice of isospin singlet over triplet is made for simplicity. The fermion f can be either a color singlet or octet, with the latter chosen to prevent it having the quantum numbers of a right-handed neutrino. The bare Majorana mass m_f must be nonzero for this Lagrangian to be $\Delta L = 2$ and thus capable of inducing Majorana masses for the neutrinos.

Besides the SM gauge symmetry group, we have to demand baryon-number conservation, in order to forbid the operators $\lambda_{ij\alpha}^{QQ} \overline{Q}_i Q_j^c \phi_{\alpha}$ and $\lambda_{ij\alpha}^{ud} \overline{u}_i d_j^c \phi_{\alpha}$, which induce proton



Figure 1. The neutrino self-energy Feynman diagram. Note that the color-octet fermion f is Majorana and therefore we do not add an arrow to the line.

decay, as discussed in e.g. refs. [43, 44]. Applying the discussion in [44], we find the following estimates for proton decay. If ϕ_{α} couples to the first generation of quarks directly via the couplings λ^{ud} , there is a tree-level contribution to the proton decay channel $p \to \pi^0 e^+$. The decay rate can be estimated to be

$$\Gamma \sim \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{|\lambda_{11\alpha}^{ud}\lambda_{11\alpha}^{LQ,eu}|^2 M_p^5}{m_{\phi_\alpha}^4}\right), \qquad (2.5)$$

which leads to a strong upper bound on the product of the couplings to the first generation of quarks $|\lambda_{11\alpha}^{ud}\lambda_{11\alpha}| \lesssim (m_{\phi_{\alpha}}/10^{16} \,\text{GeV})^2$. If ϕ_{α} does not couple to the first generation directly, there is a loop-level contribution to the proton decay channel $p \to K^+ \bar{\nu}$ leading to a partial decay width

$$\Gamma \sim \sum_{m} \frac{|\lambda_{33\alpha}^{ud} \lambda_{m3\alpha}^{LQ,eu}|^2 M_p^5 g^8}{m_{\phi\alpha}^4} \left(\frac{|V_{ub} V_{td} V_{ts}| M_b M_{\ell_m}}{M_t^2} \ln\left(\frac{M_t}{M_b}\right) \ln\left(\frac{M_t}{M_{\ell_m}}\right) \right)^2, \qquad (2.6)$$

where g denotes the electroweak gauge coupling constant, M_b (M_t) the bottom (top) mass and M_{ℓ_m} the mass of the charged lepton ℓ_m . This translates into a strong upper bound on $\lambda_{33\alpha}^{ud}$. Similar bounds can be derived for the couplings $\lambda_{ij\alpha}^{QQ}$. Therefore, it makes sense to forbid these couplings by imposing baryon-number conservation.

In the following, we will perform all calculations in the full theory for simplicity using dimensional regularization in the $\overline{\text{MS}}$ scheme.³

3 Neutrino masses

The neutrino self-energy Feynman diagram depicted in figure 1 leads to the Majorana neutrino mass matrix

$$(M_{\nu})_{ij} = 4 \frac{m_f}{(2\pi)^8} \sum_{k,l=1}^3 \sum_{r,s=1}^3 \sum_{\alpha,\beta=1}^{N_{\phi}} \left(\lambda_{ik\alpha}^{LQ} \lambda_{l\alpha}^{df} V_{kr} \right) \left(m_{d_r} I_{rs\alpha\beta} m_{d_s} \right) \left(\lambda_{jl\beta}^{LQ} \lambda_{k\beta}^{df} V_{ls} \right) , \qquad (3.1)$$

 $^{^{3}}$ As there is no manifest decoupling, a more precise treatment would require an explicit decoupling of heavy particles at their given mass thresholds in order to be able to resum the logarithms. See appendix D for some comments on the treatment of neutrino masses in this approach.

where 4 is a color factor, N_{ϕ} is the number of leptoquarks ϕ_{α} , the integral $I_{ij\alpha\beta}$ is defined as

$$I_{ij\alpha\beta} \equiv \int d^4p \int d^4q \frac{1}{p^2 - m_{d_i}^2} \frac{1}{p^2 - m_{\phi_\alpha}^2} \frac{1}{q^2 - m_{d_j}^2} \frac{1}{q^2 - m_{\phi_\beta}^2} \frac{1}{(p-q)^2 - m_f^2}, \qquad (3.2)$$

and m_{d_i} denote the *d*-, *s*- and *b*-quark masses for i = 1, 2, 3, respectively. Note that this is the exact loop integral, using the full propagators for the massive fermions, with the fermion mass factors in the numerator of eq. (3.1) arising from the chiral projection operators at the vertices. The matrix M_{ν} corresponds to the effective term $(\nu_L)^c M_{\nu} \nu_L + \overline{\nu}_L M_{\nu}^* (\nu_L)^c$.

For what follows it will be convenient to rewrite eq. (3.2) in terms of the dimensionless parameters

$$r_i \equiv \frac{m_{d_i}^2}{m_f^2}$$
 and $t_\alpha \equiv \frac{m_{\phi_\alpha}^2}{m_f^2}$. (3.3)

Specifically, factoring out m_f^2 and rescaling the momenta we have:

$$I_{ij\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{m_f^2} \int d^4p \int d^4q \frac{1}{p^2 - r_i} \frac{1}{p^2 - t_\alpha} \frac{1}{q^2 - r_j} \frac{1}{q^2 - t_\beta} \frac{1}{(p-q)^2 - 1}$$
(3.4)

In appendix B we exactly evaluate this integral in general, and in the situation where the quark masses are much smaller than the leptoquark ϕ and color-octet fermion f masses — specifically where $r_{i/j} \to 0$.

We now make some useful approximations. First, since the quark masses are much smaller than those of the leptoquark ϕ and color-octet fermion f, they may be neglected in the denominator. This is equivalent to treating the internal quark lines in the massinsertion approximation. As mentioned, this case is evaluated in appendix B and is denoted

$$I_{\alpha\beta} \equiv \lim_{r_{i/j} \to 0} I_{ij\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{m_f^2} \int d^4p \int d^4q \frac{1}{p^2 q^2} \frac{1}{p^2 - t_\alpha} \frac{1}{q^2 - t_\beta} \frac{1}{(p-q)^2 - 1} .$$
(3.5)

Also, we only consider the parameter space region where the *b*-quark mass dominates the numerator, so that the *d*- and *s*-quark masses may be put to zero. This requires the Yukawa couplings $\lambda^{LQ}\lambda^{df}$ to not be strongly hierarchical in the sense of being able to compensate for the hierarchy in the quark masses. So, the formula for the neutrino mass matrix simplifies to

$$(M_{\nu})_{ij} \simeq 4 \frac{m_f m_b^2 V_{tb}^2}{(2\pi)^8} \sum_{\alpha,\beta=1}^{N_{\phi}} \left(\lambda_{i3\alpha}^{LQ} \lambda_{3\alpha}^{df} \right) (I_{\alpha\beta}) \left(\lambda_{j3\beta}^{LQ} \lambda_{3\beta}^{df} \right) .$$
(3.6)

Equation 3.6 may be simply re-expressed in matrix notation as

$$M_{\nu} \simeq \text{const.} \times \Lambda I \Lambda^T$$
, (3.7)

where

$$\Lambda_{i\alpha} \equiv \lambda_{i3\alpha}^{LQ} \lambda_{3\alpha}^{df} \quad \text{and} \quad I \equiv (I_{\alpha\beta}) .$$
(3.8)

If there were only one leptoquark flavor, I would be just a number and Λ a 3×1 column vector. The neutrino mass matrix would then be of the form of an outer product of a column

vector with its transpose, and hence of rank one. With the d- and s-quark masses switched back on, the exact neutrino mass matrix of eq. (3.1) is (in general) rank-three, but the two smallest eigenvalues are generally too small to fit the neutrino oscillation data.⁴ The necessity of two sufficiently large neutrino mass eigenvalues therefore requires two leptoquark flavors to exist. In that case the third eigenvalue is extremely small and for all practical purposes can be set to zero. Because we choose to adopt the natural parameter space regime where the bottom-quark mass dominates the neutrino mass-matrix formula, from now on we assume that there are only couplings to the third generation in the flavor basis, with the only mixing coming from the SM down-type Yukawa couplings. For most calculations the CKM induced couplings to the first two generations of down-type quarks can be neglected. Hence, we do not discuss the effects of the CKM mixing except in section 5. Given that the smallest neutrino mass almost vanishes, we know that the largest of the neutrino masses is just the square root of the "atmospheric" squared mass difference, namely about 0.05 eV. The new physics in our model must be sufficiently strong to produce this eigenvalue.

It is convenient to solve eq. (3.6) for the 3×2 matrix Λ , which can be easily done through a Casas-Ibarra procedure [45]. One obtains

$$\Lambda_{i\alpha} = \sum_{j,k=1}^{3} \sum_{\beta=1}^{2} \frac{(2\pi)^4}{2V_{tb}m_b\sqrt{m_f}} \left(V_{\nu}^*\right)_{ij} \left(\hat{M}_{\nu}^{\frac{1}{2}}\right)_{jk} O_{k\beta} \left(\hat{I}^{-\frac{1}{2}}S\right)_{\beta\alpha}, \qquad (3.9)$$

where V_{ν} and S diagonalize the neutrino mass matrix,

$$\hat{M}_{\nu} = V_{\nu}^{T} M_{\nu} V_{\nu} \,, \tag{3.10}$$

and the matrix of integrals I,

$$\hat{I} = S^T I S \,, \tag{3.11}$$

respectively, with I being a real and positive diagonal matrix. The leptonic mixing or PMNS matrix is defined by $V_{PMNS} = V_e^{\dagger}V_{\nu}$. In the case of a normal [inverted] mass ordering, the first [third] neutrino is massless, i.e. the (1,1) [(3,3)] element of \hat{M}_{ν} vanishes and the 2-3 [1-2] sub-block of the matrix O is given by a general complex orthogonal matrix, while the first [third] row of O is arbitrary. In order to understand the flavor structure of the neutrino mass matrix as well as the bounds on the leptoquark masses in more detail, we have to study the flavor structure of the matrix of integrals I, which demands a hierarchy in Λ in order to explain a small hierarchy in the neutrino masses.

3.1 Flavor structure of the matrix of integrals I

The main feature of I we wish to demonstrate here is that the matrix develops a hierarchy in its eigenvalues. We will discuss the case with two leptoquarks in detail and generalize it in the end to an arbitrary number of leptoquarks. This hierarchy emerges for a wide range of values of t_1 and t_2 (where 1 and 2 distinguish the two leptoquarks as defined in eq. (3.3)), however it does not have a uniform origin. Firstly if one of the leptoquarks and

⁴As stated earlier, we do not consider the unnatural possibility of a strong hierarchy in the Λ values that just happens to offset $m_d \ll m_s \ll m_b$.

the octet fermion are much heavier than the other leptoquark, without loss of generality we can take $t_1 \rightarrow 0$ and leave t_2 constant. One can check using the analytic expression in appendix B that both I_{11} and $I_{12} = I_{21}$ diverge, the former doing so faster, whilst I_{22} remains constant. Accordingly the matrix I becomes singular and thus a hierarchy develops in its eigenvalues. The origin of the hierarchy in this limit is relatively straightforward. Sending $t_1 \rightarrow 0$ is equivalent to sending the corresponding leptoquark mass to the mass of the down-type quark that appears in the same loop. In the limit that the two masses are equal a Landau singularity appears and the amplitude associated with the diagram becomes IR divergent. For definiteness, we give an explicit description assuming that $t_1 \ll t_2$ and therefore $I_{11} \gg I_{12} \gg I_{22}$:

$$I \approx I_{11} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \epsilon \\ \cdot & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
 with $\epsilon \equiv \frac{I_{12}}{I_{11}}$ (3.12)

neglecting the small I_{22} and we obtain for the inverse square root of the matrix I,

$$I^{-\frac{1}{2}} \equiv \hat{I}^{-\frac{1}{2}} S = I_{11}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \begin{pmatrix} -i & \frac{i}{\epsilon} \\ 1 & \epsilon \end{pmatrix} .$$
(3.13)

Through eq. (3.9), this expression feeds into the determination of the required Yukawa couplings Λ . Note that the flavor structure above implies that the mixing from the matrix I is small, so the eventual neutrino mixing is mainly determined by the Yukawa couplings in Λ .

At the other end of parameter space, consider the case when $t_1 \simeq t_2$. It is easy to check using the analytic expressions in appendix B that $I_{\alpha\beta}$ shows a weak dependence on the leptoquark masses. In particular,

$$\left| \frac{t_1 - t_2}{t_2} \left[\frac{\partial I_{12}}{\partial t_1} \right]_{t_1 = t_2} \right| \ll |I_{22}| \quad . \tag{3.14}$$

As the integral is symmetric in the leptoquark masses, we can expand I as follows

$$I \approx I_{22} \begin{pmatrix} 1+2\epsilon \ 1+\epsilon \\ . & 1 \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{with} \quad \epsilon \equiv \frac{t_1 - t_2}{t_2} \frac{\frac{\partial I_{12}}{\partial t_1}}{I_{22}} \frac{1}{I_{22}} . \quad (3.15)$$

Expanding the ratio of the eigenvalues results in a quadratic hierarchy in ϵ , given by $\epsilon^2/4 + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^3)$. This shows that there is a hierarchy in the matrix I for $t_1 \simeq t_2$ as well. Using this expansion, we obtain a simple expression for the square root of the matrix I,

$$I^{-\frac{1}{2}} \equiv \hat{I}^{-\frac{1}{2}}S = I_{22}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{i}{|\epsilon|} - \frac{i|\epsilon|}{8} & \frac{i}{|\epsilon|} - i - \frac{3i|\epsilon|}{8} \\ \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} (1 + |\epsilon|) \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2) .$$
(3.16)

Note that the leading contribution, which sets the scale of the couplings Λ , is entirely determined by the first row of $I^{-\frac{1}{2}}$.

Having understood these two limiting cases, we now draw our attention to the general case, which we analyze numerically. As the absolute mass scale of the integral can be



Figure 2. Contour plot of the hierarchy $\log_{10} \lambda_1 / \lambda_2$ in the eigenvalues $\lambda_{1,2}$ of the matrix I as a function of t_1 and t_2 on a logarithmic scale.

factored out, we see that the hierarchy of the eigenvalues can only depend on the two ratios of masses t_{α} . Hence, we show the hierarchy of the eigenvalues in the contour plot in figure 2. The mixing angle of the integral matrix is maximal $(\pm \pi/2)$ for the degenerate case, vanishes for the hierarchical case and can be interpolated between those two limiting cases.

The generalization to more generations of leptoquarks is straightforward by grouping the leptoquark masses with a similar mass scale. There is a large hierarchy between the blocks with similar masses due to the mentioned Landau singularity. Additionally, there is a hierarchy between the integrals involving similar leptoquark masses as discussed for the degenerate leptoquark mass case. So if there are three copies of leptoquarks, large hierarchies among the Yukawa couplings $\Lambda = \lambda^{LQ} \lambda^{df}$ are required to compensate for large hierarchies among the three eigenvalues of the matrix of integral I, which then induces flavor-changing processes that exceed the current limits.

3.2 Understanding the neutrino flavor structure

We can use the approximations from the previous subsection and obtain analytic expressions for the leading order contribution to the neutrino mass matrix.

3.2.1 Normal mass ordering

As mentioned above, the 2-3 block of the matrix O is given by a complex orthogonal matrix parameterized by the complex angle θ :

$$O = \begin{pmatrix} \cos \theta - \sin \theta \\ \sin \theta & \cos \theta \end{pmatrix} .$$
 (3.17)

Consider the expression $(\hat{M}_{\nu}^{\frac{1}{2}})_{jk}O_{k\beta}(I^{-\frac{1}{2}})_{\beta\alpha}$ which appears in eq. (3.9). In the case of a strong normal hierarchy with $m_1 = 0$, the first row vanishes and the resulting leading order approximation to the columns of Λ are given by a linear combination of the second and third column of V_{ν}^* .

We discuss the different limits in turn starting with the strongly hierarchical leptoquark masses, namely $t_1 \ll t_2$. Here, the leading order contribution is given by

$$\left(\hat{M}_{\nu}^{\frac{1}{2}}\right)_{jk} O_{k\beta} \left(I^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right)_{\beta\alpha} \simeq I_{11}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ -i\sqrt{m_2} e^{-i\theta} & i\frac{\sqrt{m_2}}{\epsilon} \left(\cos\theta + i\epsilon^2\sin\theta\right) \\ \sqrt{m_3} e^{-i\theta} & \frac{\sqrt{m_3}}{\epsilon} \left(\epsilon^2\cos\theta + i\sin\theta\right) \end{pmatrix} .$$
 (3.18)

Similarly, in the case of degenerate leptoquark masses, $t_1 \simeq t_2$, the leading order contribution results in

$$\left(\hat{M}_{\nu}^{\frac{1}{2}}\right)_{jk}O_{k\beta}\left(I^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right)_{\beta\alpha}\simeq I_{22}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\begin{pmatrix}0&0\\-\frac{i\sqrt{m_2}\cos\theta}{i\sqrt{m_2}\cos\theta}&\frac{i\sqrt{m_2}\cos\theta}{\frac{|\epsilon|}{-\frac{i\sqrt{m_3}\sin\theta}}&\frac{|\epsilon|}{\frac{|\epsilon|}{|\epsilon|}}\end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.19)

Note that a non-vanishing mixing angle θ can lead to substantially larger couplings because $m_2^2 = \Delta m_{21}^2 \ll \Delta m_{31}^2 = m_3^2$.

3.2.2 Inverted mass ordering

In the case of inverted mass ordering, the 1-2 block of the matrix O is given by a complex orthogonal matrix. Following the discussion for normal mass ordering, we consider the expression $(\hat{M}_{\nu}^{\frac{1}{2}})_{jk}O_{k\beta}(I^{-\frac{1}{2}})_{\beta\alpha}$. In the case of a strong inverted hierarchy with $m_3 = 0$, the third row vanishes and the resulting leading order approximation to the columns of Λ are given by a linear combination of the first and second columns of V_{ν}^* .

In the limit of a large hierarchy among the leptoquark masses, $t_1 \ll t_2$, the leading order contribution is given by

$$\left(\hat{M}_{\nu}^{\frac{1}{2}}\right)_{jk}O_{k\beta}\left(I^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right)_{\beta\alpha}\simeq I_{11}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\begin{pmatrix}-i\sqrt{m_1}\,e^{-i\theta}\,\frac{i\sqrt{m_1}}{\epsilon}\left(\cos\theta+i\epsilon^2\sin\theta\right)\\\sqrt{m_2}\,e^{-i\theta}\,\frac{\sqrt{m_2}}{\epsilon}\left(\epsilon^2\cos\theta+i\sin\theta\right)\\0&0\end{pmatrix}\,.$$
(3.20)

In the case of quasi-degenerate leptoquark masses, the expression becomes

$$\left(\hat{M}_{\nu}^{\frac{1}{2}}\right)_{jk} O_{k\beta} \left(I^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right)_{\beta\alpha} \simeq I_{22}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{i\sqrt{m_{1}\cos(\theta)}}{|\epsilon|} & \frac{i\sqrt{m_{1}\cos(\theta)}}{|\epsilon|} \\ -\frac{i\sqrt{m_{2}\sin(\theta)}}{|\sqrt{m_{2}\sin(\theta)}} & \frac{i\sqrt{m_{1}\cos(\theta)}}{|\epsilon|} \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} .$$
(3.21)

4 Constraints from flavor physics relevant to neutrino mass generation

The Lagrangian in eq. (2.4) violates the family lepton numbers and the total lepton number explicitly. Thus we expect rare processes, such as $\mu \to e\gamma$, to place limits on the model parameters. Many of these processes proceed through one loop Feynman diagrams and the associated amplitudes can be reduced into Passarino-Veltman integrals [46]. For the convenience of the reader and for future reference, we have compiled our results in appendix C and made a Mathematica package denoted as ANT publicly available, which is briefly introduced in section 8. In this section, we restrict ourselves to the contributions which are required by the generation of neutrino mass, i.e. those in eq. (2.4a). For the coupling λ^{eu} in eq. (2.4b), which does not enter the neutrino mass formula, we only give an estimation of the constraints in section 5. However, we compiled some of the most relevant full expressions in appendix A. We extended the FeynRules [47] SM implementation to include the new particles and used FeynArts [48] as well as FormCalc [49] to obtain analytical results for the different processes.

In this work, we fix the mixing angles and mass-squared differences to the experimental best fit values (v1.1) of the NuFIT collaboration $[50]^5$

$$\begin{aligned} \sin^2 \theta_{12} &= 0.306 , & \Delta m_{21}^2 &= 7.45 \times 10^{-5} \,\mathrm{eV}^2 , \\ \sin^2 \theta_{13} &= 0.0231 , & \Delta m_{31}^2 &= 2.421 \times 10^{-3} \,\mathrm{eV}^2(N) , & (4.1) \\ \sin^2 \theta_{23} &= 0.437 , & \Delta m_{32}^2 &= -2.410 \times 10^{-3} \,\mathrm{eV}^2(I) . \end{aligned}$$

Furthermore we set the lightest neutrino mass to zero and assume vanishing CP phases in the PMNS matrix, i.e. $\delta = \varphi_1 = \varphi_2 = 0$ as well as a vanishing mixing in the matrix O in the Casas-Ibarra-type parameterization of the Yukawa couplings Λ . We expect stronger bounds for non-vanishing CP phases or non-vanishing mixing in the matrix O. We leave the discussion of non-vanishing CP phases in the PMNS matrix as well as a non-vanishing mixing in O for future work. Currently there are no bounds on the Yukawa couplings $\lambda_{3\alpha}^{df}$ and, for simplicity, we will conservatively set them to a rather large value of 1 in this work. A detailed study would require each $\lambda_{3\alpha}^{df}$ to be varied separately. However simple arguments are already enough to understand the qualitative behavior. The neutrino mass quadratically depends on the combination $\Lambda_{i\alpha} = \lambda_{i3\alpha}^{LQ} \lambda_{3\alpha}^{df}$ and thus a change in the coupling $\lambda_{3\alpha}^{df}$ by a factor ξ has to be compensated by a factor ξ^{-1} in the coupling $\lambda_{i3\alpha}^{LQ}$ in order to leave the neutrino mass matrix unchanged. The most important flavor-changing processes turn out to be the LFV decays $\mu \to e\gamma$, $\mu \to eee$ as well as $\mu \leftrightarrow e$ conversion in nuclei, which all depend on $\lambda_{i3\alpha}^{LQ}$. The dominant contributions to the amplitudes of $\mu \to eee$ and $\mu \leftrightarrow e$ conversion in nuclei originate from penguin diagrams which are proportional to $\lambda_{23\alpha}^{LQ} \lambda_{13\alpha}^{LQ*}$. Similarly the amplitude of $\mu \to e\gamma$ is proportional to $\lambda_{23\alpha}^{LQ} \lambda_{13\alpha}^{LQ*}$. Hence a decrease of $\lambda_{3\alpha}^{df}$ by a factor of ξ leads to an enhancement of the relevant branching ratios by a factor of about ξ^{-4} and consequently a stronger constraint.

4.1 Radiative lepton flavor violating decays $l_i^- \rightarrow l_j^- \gamma$

The first constraints considered are those arising from lepton flavor violating (LFV) processes of the form $l_i^- \rightarrow l_j^- \gamma$, such as $\mu \rightarrow e\gamma$, which are shown in figure 3. From [53] and the Lagrangian in eq. (2.4), the amplitude for such processes in this model can be written as

$$\mathcal{M}(l_i \to l_j \gamma) = e \epsilon_{\mu}^* \bar{u}(p_j) i \sigma^{\mu\nu} q^{\nu} (\sigma_{Lij} P_L + \sigma_{Rij} P_R) u(p_i) , \qquad (4.2)$$

where e is the electric charge, $P_{L,R} \equiv \frac{1}{2} (1 \mp \gamma_5)$ are the projection operators and the

 $^{{}^{5}}$ See [51, 52] for other global fits to the neutrino oscillation data.



Figure 3. Lepton-flavor violating rare decays. The photon can be attached to any of the four lines.

coefficients⁶ $\sigma_{L,R}$ are given by

$$\sigma_{Lij} = \frac{m_{l_i}}{16\pi^2} \sum_{m=1}^2 \frac{\lambda_{i3m}^{LQ} \lambda_{j3m}^{LQ\dagger}}{m_{\phi_m}^2} F(t_{3m}), \qquad \sigma_{Rij} = \frac{m_{l_j}}{16\pi^2} \sum_{m=1}^2 \frac{\lambda_{i3m}^{LQ} \lambda_{j3m}^{LQ\dagger}}{m_{\phi_m}^2} F(t_{3m}), \qquad (4.3)$$

where the mass ratio $t_{3m} = m_t^2/m_{\phi_m}^2$ and the loop function F is defined as

$$F(t_{3m}) = \frac{1 + 4t_{3m} - 5t_{3m}^2 + 2t_{3m}(2 + t_{3m})\ln t_{3m}}{4(t_{3m} - 1)^4} .$$
(4.4)

Then, the resulting partial decay width of $l_i \rightarrow l_j \gamma$ is

$$\Gamma(l_i \to l_j \gamma) = \frac{(m_{l_i}^2 - m_{l_j}^2)^3 e^2 \left(|\sigma_L|^2 + |\sigma_R|^2 \right)}{16\pi m_{l_i}^3} .$$
(4.5)

A comparison to the dominant tree-level decay $l_i^- \rightarrow l_j^- \nu_i \bar{\nu}_j$, neglecting the final state lepton mass, results in a good analytic estimate of the branching ratio,

$$\operatorname{Br}(l_i \to l_j \gamma) \simeq \frac{3s_W^2}{8\pi^3 \alpha} \left(\sum_{m=1}^2 \lambda_{i3m}^{LQ} \lambda_{j3m}^{LQ\dagger} \frac{m_W^2}{m_{\phi_m}^2} F(t_{3m}) \right)^2$$
(4.6)

with $s_W^2 = \sin^2 \theta_W$, which captures the main dependence on the leptoquark masses $m_{\phi_m}^2$ and couplings λ_{i3m}^{LQ} . In the numerical evaluation, we use the full expression of the partial decay width and the experimentally measured total decay width.

Here we present the contour plots of the branching ratio of $\mu \to e\gamma$ at $m_f = 1$ TeV and $m_f = 10$ TeV in figure 4a and figure 4b. As expected, the region where $t_1 \simeq t_2$ is excluded, because the large hierarchy in the integral matrix I needs to be compensated by a large hierarchy in the Yukawa couplings Λ , which then leads to a large decay width for $\mu \to e\gamma$. For the same m_f , the hierarchy gets larger in the third quadrant when leptoquark masses get smaller as shown in figure 2, which leads to a wider exclusion region. For the same t_1 and t_2 , the branching ratio in the first quadrant scales as m_f^{-1} when $t_1 \simeq t_2 \gg 1$. Thus the exclusion region in the first quadrant is narrower when m_f gets larger. In the third quadrant where $t_1 \simeq t_2 \ll 1$, however, the branching ratio scales as $m_f^3 \ln m_f^2$ for fixed t_1 and t_2 . So the exclusion region gets wider when m_f gets larger. The results for $\tau \to e\gamma$ and $\tau \to \mu\gamma$ at $m_f = 1$ TeV are shown in figure 4c and figure 4d respectively, which are similar but less stringent than the constraints from $\mu \to e\gamma$.

⁶The full expressions for $\sigma_{L,R}$ can be found in appendix A.



Figure 4. Contour plots of the branching ratio in $\mu \to e\gamma$ at $m_f = 1$ TeV (top left), $m_f = 10$ TeV (top right), $\tau \to e\gamma$ at $m_f = 1$ TeV (bottom left) and $\tau \to \mu\gamma$ at $m_f = 1$ TeV (bottom right). The current exclusion region at $\text{Br}(\mu \to e\gamma) < 5.7 \times 10^{-13}$ [54] as well as $\text{Br}(\tau \to e\gamma) < 3.3 \times 10^{-8}$ and $\text{Br}(\tau \to \mu\gamma) < 4.4 \times 10^{-8}$ [55] at 90% C.L. are plotted in red. The sensitivity of the proposed upgrade of MEG is 6×10^{-14} [56] and it is shown as a dashed black line. The Yukawa couplings $\lambda_{3\alpha}^{df}$ are set to 1.

4.2 Anomalous magnetic moment

In terms of the functions defined in eq. (4.3), the anomalous magnetic moment is simply

$$\Delta a_i = 2 e m_{l_i} \left(\sigma_{Lii} + \sigma_{Rii} \right) \simeq \frac{e}{8\pi^2} \sum_{m=1}^2 \left| \lambda_{i3m}^{LQ} \right|^2 \frac{m_{l_i}^2}{m_{\phi_m}^2} F(t_{3m}) .$$
(4.7)

The predicted values for all three flavors are substantially below current experimental limits, implying that these values do not provide meaningful limits on the model. For example, the maximum contribution to the muon anomalous magnetic moment from our model for $m_f = 1 \text{ TeV}$ is $\mathcal{O}(10^{-13})$, which is almost four orders of magnitude smaller than the experimental uncertainty of $\Delta a_{\mu}^{\exp} = (1.1659209 \pm 0.000006) \times 10^{-3}$ [55].

LFV rare decay $\mu^- \rightarrow e^- e^+ e^-$ 4.3

The model has a number of different contributions to $\mu^- \rightarrow e^- e^+ e^-$, including photon penguins, Z-penguins, Higgs penguins and box diagrams. As the Higgs penguin diagrams are suppressed by the electron mass, we have neglected their contribution here. We consider the contribution of the remaining diagrams in turn.⁷

To begin with the amplitude associated with the γ -penguin can be written as [57–59]

$$\mathcal{M}_{\gamma} = \bar{u}(p_1) \left(q^2 \gamma_{\mu} (A_1^L P_L + A_1^R P_R) + i m_{\mu} \sigma_{\mu\nu} q^{\nu} \left(A_2^L P_L + A_2^R P_R \right) \right) u(p) \\ \times \frac{e^2}{q^2} \bar{u}(p_2) \gamma^{\mu} v(p_3) - (p_1 \leftrightarrow p_2) , \qquad (4.8)$$

where the form factors $A_{1,2}^{L,R}$ are given by⁸

$$A_{1}^{L,R} = \sum_{a=1}^{3} \sum_{m=1}^{2} \frac{\lambda_{2am}^{LQ} \lambda_{1am}^{LQ\dagger}}{384\pi^{2} m_{\phi_{m}}^{2}} \times \frac{(t_{am}-1)\left(10 + (-17 + t_{am})t_{am}\right) - 2\left(4 - 6t_{am} - t_{am}^{3}\right)\ln t_{am}}{(t_{am}-1)^{2}}$$
(4.9a)

$$A_2^{L,R} = \frac{\sigma_{L21,R21}}{m_{\mu}} \,, \tag{4.9b}$$

where $t_{am} = m_{u_a}^2 / m_{\phi_m}^2$ and $\sigma_{L,R}$ are as defined in eq. (4.3). Note that the external momentum as well as the electron mass m_e have been set to zero and all color factors have been taken into account.

Next the contribution from the Z-penguin diagrams can be written as

$$\mathcal{M}_{Z} = \frac{1}{m_{Z}^{2}} \bar{u}(p_{1}) \gamma_{\mu} \left(F_{L} P_{L} + F_{R} P_{R} \right) u(p) \\ \times \bar{u}(p_{2}) \gamma^{\mu} \left(Z_{L} P_{L} + Z_{R} P_{R} \right) v(p_{3}) - (p_{1} \leftrightarrow p_{2}), \qquad (4.10)$$

where the form factors $F_{L,R}$,⁹ and $Z_{L,R}$ are given by

$$F_{L,R} = \sum_{a=1}^{3} \sum_{m=1}^{2} -\frac{3e\lambda_{2am}^{LQ}\lambda_{1am}^{LQ\dagger}}{32\pi^{3}\sin\theta_{W}\cos\theta_{W}} \frac{t_{am}(1-t_{am}+\ln t_{am})}{(t_{am}-1)^{2}}$$
(4.11a)

$$Z_L = -\frac{e}{\sin\theta_W \cos\theta_W} \left(-\frac{1}{2} + \sin\theta_W^2 \right)$$
(4.11b)

$$Z_R = -\frac{e}{\sin\theta_W \cos\theta_W} \sin\theta_W^2 . \qquad (4.11c)$$

⁷We do not discuss leptonic LFV τ decays, e.g. $\tau \rightarrow eee$, since they are less constraining like radiative LFV τ decays are less constraining than radiative LFV decays of μ .

⁸The full expressions for $A_{1,2}^{L,R}$ can be found in appendix A. ⁹The full expressions for $F^{L,R}$ can be found in appendix A.

Finally for the amplitude of the contribution from box diagrams we have

$$\mathcal{M}_{Box} = e^{2}B_{1}^{L} \left[\bar{u}_{i}(p_{1}) \left(\gamma^{\mu}P_{L} \right) u_{j}(p) \right] \left[\bar{u}_{i}(p_{2}) \left(\gamma_{\mu}P_{L} \right) v_{i}(p_{3}) \right] + e^{2}B_{1}^{R} \left[\bar{u}_{i}(p_{1}) \left(\gamma^{\mu}P_{R} \right) u_{j}(p) \right] \left[\bar{u}_{i}(p_{2}) \left(\gamma_{\mu}P_{R} \right) v_{i}(p_{3}) \right] + e^{2}B_{2}^{L} \left\{ \left[\bar{u}_{i}(p_{1}) \left(\gamma^{\mu}P_{L} \right) u_{j}(p) \right] \left[\bar{u}_{i}(p_{2}) \left(\gamma_{\mu}P_{R} \right) v_{i}(p_{3}) \right] - (p_{1} \leftrightarrow p_{2}) \right\} + e^{2}B_{2}^{R} \left\{ \left[\bar{u}_{i}(p_{1}) \left(\gamma^{\mu}P_{R} \right) u_{j}(p) \right] \left[\bar{u}_{i}(p_{2}) \left(\gamma_{\mu}P_{L} \right) v_{i}(p_{3}) \right] - (p_{1} \leftrightarrow p_{2}) \right\} + e^{2}B_{3}^{R} \left\{ \left[\bar{u}_{i}(p_{1})P_{L}u_{j}(p) \right] \left[\bar{u}_{i}(p_{2})P_{L}v_{i}(p_{3}) \right] - (p_{1} \leftrightarrow p_{2}) \right\} + e^{2}B_{4}^{R} \left\{ \left[\bar{u}_{i}(p_{1}) \left(\sigma_{\mu\nu}P_{L} \right) u_{j}(p) \right] \left[\bar{u}_{i}(p_{2}) \left(\sigma^{\mu\nu}P_{L} \right) v_{i}(p_{3}) \right] - (p_{1} \leftrightarrow p_{2}) \right\} + e^{2}B_{4}^{R} \left\{ \left[\bar{u}_{i}(p_{1}) \left(\sigma_{\mu\nu}P_{R}u_{j}(p) \right) \right] \left[\bar{u}_{i}(p_{2}) \left(\sigma^{\mu\nu}P_{R} \right) v_{i}(p_{3}) \right] - (p_{1} \leftrightarrow p_{2}) \right\} , \quad (4.12)$$

where the form factors B_i are given by¹⁰

$$B_1^{L,R} = \sum_{i,j,m,n} -\frac{3}{16\pi^2 e^2} \lambda_{2im}^{LQ} \lambda_{1in}^{LQ\dagger} \lambda_{1jm}^{LQ\dagger} \lambda_{1jn}^{LQ} D_{00} \left[m_{\phi_m}^2, m_{\phi_n}^2, m_{u_i}^2, m_{u_j}^2 \right], \quad (4.13a)$$

$$B_{2,3,4}^{L,R} = 0, (4.13b)$$

where 3 is the color factor and all the external momenta and masses have been neglected. The function D_{00} can be found in appendix C. Using the form factors given above, we can write the decay width for $\mu^- \to e^- e^+ e^-$ as follows [59]:

$$\begin{split} \Gamma(\mu^{-} \to e^{-}e^{+}e^{-}) &= \frac{e^{4}}{512\pi^{3}}m_{\mu}^{5} \bigg[\left| A_{1}^{L} \right|^{2} + \left| A_{1}^{R} \right|^{2} - 2\left(A_{1}^{L}A_{2}^{R*} + A_{2}^{L}A_{1}^{R*} + \text{h.c.} \right) & (4.14) \\ &+ \left(\left| A_{2}^{L} \right|^{2} + \left| A_{2}^{R} \right|^{2} \right) \left(\frac{16}{3} \ln \frac{m_{\mu}}{m_{e}} - \frac{22}{3} \right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{6} \left(\left| B_{1}^{L} \right|^{2} + \left| B_{1}^{R} \right|^{2} \right) + \frac{1}{3} \left(\left| B_{2}^{L} \right|^{2} + \left| B_{2}^{R} \right|^{2} \right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{24} \left(\left| B_{3}^{L} \right|^{2} + \left| B_{3}^{R} \right|^{2} \right) + 6 \left(\left| B_{4}^{L} \right|^{2} + \left| B_{4}^{R} \right|^{2} \right) \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \left(B_{3}^{L}B_{4}^{L*} + B_{3}^{R}B_{4}^{R*} + \text{h.c.} \right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{3} \left(A_{1}^{L}B_{1}^{L*} + A_{1}^{R}B_{1}^{R*} + A_{1}^{L}B_{2}^{L*} + A_{1}^{R}B_{2}^{R*} + \text{h.c.} \right) \\ &- \frac{2}{3} \left(A_{2}^{R}B_{1}^{L*} + A_{2}^{L}B_{1}^{R*} + A_{2}^{L}B_{2}^{R*} + A_{2}^{R}B_{2}^{L*} + \text{h.c.} \right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{3} \bigg\{ 2 \left(\left| F_{LL} \right|^{2} + \left| F_{RR} \right|^{2} \right) + \left| F_{LR} \right|^{2} + \left| F_{RL} \right|^{2} \\ &+ \left(B_{1}^{L}F_{LL}^{*} + B_{1}^{R}F_{RR}^{*} + B_{2}^{L}F_{LR}^{*} + B_{2}^{R}F_{RL}^{*} + \text{h.c.} \right) \\ &+ 2 \left(A_{1}^{L}F_{LL}^{*} + A_{1}^{R}F_{RR}^{*} + \text{h.c.} \right) - 2 \left(A_{2}^{L}F_{RL}^{*} + A_{1}^{R}F_{RR}^{*} + \text{h.c.} \right) \bigg\} \bigg], \end{split}$$

with

$$F_{LL} = \frac{F_L Z_L}{g^2 s_W^2 m_Z^2}, \quad F_{RR} = F_{LL}|_{L\leftrightarrow R}, \quad F_{LR} = \frac{F_L Z_R}{g^2 s_W^2 m_Z^2}, \quad F_{RL} = F_{LR}|_{L\leftrightarrow R}, \quad (4.15)$$

¹⁰The full expressions for B_i are given in appendix A.



Figure 5. Contour plots of the branching ratio in $\mu^- \to e^-e^+e^-$ at $m_f = 1$ TeV (left) and $m_f = 10$ TeV (right). The current exclusion region at Br($\mu \to eee$) $< 10^{-12}$ at 90% C.L. [55] is plotted in red. The sensitivity of measuring Br($\mu \to eee$) down to 10^{-16} of a proposed future experiment [60] is shown as a dashed black line. The Yukawa couplings $\lambda_{3\alpha}^{df}$ are set to 1.

and an approximate expression for the branching ratio is obtained by dividing by the decay width of the dominant muon decay $\mu^- \to e^- \bar{\nu}_e \nu_\mu$, as for the rare radiative LFV decay $\mu \to e\gamma$.

We show the numerical results in contour plots in figure 5, where the experimental exclusion region is plotted in red. The bound is much more stringent when leptoquark masses get smaller compared with $\mu \rightarrow e\gamma$, since the monopole contribution to the decay width from the γ -penguin, as shown in eq. (4.9a), is dominant in this case and grows rapidly. When we increase the mass of the colored octet from $m_f = 1$ TeV to $m_f = 10$ TeV, the exclusion region gets smaller in both the first and the third quadrant, because the branching ratio is dominated by the Z-penguin and γ -penguin respectively, which scales as $m_f^{-3/2} \ln m_f^2$ in the first quadrant and $m_f^{-3} \ln m_f^2$ in the third quadrant. Compared with the constraints from $\mu \rightarrow e\gamma$, the ones from $\mu \rightarrow eee$ are more stringent in the first quadrant because of the slower decoupling of the contribution from the Z-penguin, while in the third quadrant they are less stringent as long as the leptoquark masses are heavier than the top mass.

4.4 $\mu \leftrightarrow e$ conversion in nuclei

The effective Lagrangian contributing to $\mu \leftrightarrow e$ conversion in this model is [61]

$$\mathcal{L}_{int} = -\frac{1}{2} \left(m_{\mu} A_{2}^{L} \bar{\mu} \, \sigma^{\mu\nu} P_{L} eF_{\mu\nu} + m_{\mu} A_{2}^{R} \bar{\mu} \, \sigma^{\mu\nu} P_{R} eF_{\mu\nu} + \text{h.c.} \right) - \sum_{q=u,d,s} \left[\left(g_{LS(q)} \bar{e} P_{R} \mu + g_{RS(q)} \bar{e} P_{L} \mu \right) \bar{q} q + \left(g_{LP(q)} \bar{e} P_{R} \mu + g_{RP(q)} \bar{e} P_{L} \mu \right) \bar{q} \gamma_{5} q + \left(g_{LV(q)} \bar{e} \gamma^{\mu} P_{L} \mu + g_{RV(q)} \bar{e} \gamma^{\mu} P_{R} \mu \right) \bar{q} \gamma_{\mu} q + \left(g_{LA(q)} \bar{e} \gamma^{\mu} P_{L} \mu + g_{RA(q)} \bar{e} \gamma^{\mu} P_{R} \mu \right) \bar{q} \gamma_{\mu} \gamma_{5} q + \frac{1}{2} \left(g_{LT(q)} \bar{e} \sigma^{\mu\nu} P_{R} \mu + g_{RT(q)} \bar{e} \sigma^{\mu\nu} P_{L} \mu \right) \bar{q} \sigma_{\mu\nu} q + \text{h.c.} \right].$$
(4.16)

At one loop, there are several contributions to $\mu \leftrightarrow e$ conversion in nuclei. The long-range interaction is determined by the electromagnetic dipole contribution, which is described by the coefficients $A_2^{L,R}$ defined in eq. (4.9b). The remaining interactions are short-range interactions. Taking all SM particles lighter than the W boson massless, there is only a contribution to the Wilson coefficient of $(\bar{e}\gamma^{\mu}P_L\mu)(\bar{q}\gamma_{\mu}q)$ from box, γ - as well as Z-penguins:

$$g_{LV(d)}^{\text{box}} = \frac{|V_{td}|^2}{64\pi^2} \left\{ 2 \sum_{m,n,i} \lambda_{23m}^{LQ} \lambda_{13n}^{LQ*} \lambda_{i3n}^{LQ*} \lambda_{i3m}^{LQ*} D_{00} \left(0, m_{\phi_m}^2, m_{\phi_n}^2, m_t^2\right) - \sum_m \lambda_{23m}^{LQ} \lambda_{13m}^{LQ*} \left[m_t^2 y_t^2 D_0 \left(m_W^2, m_{\phi_m}^2, m_t^2, m_t^2 \right) + g^2 \left(C_0 \left(m_W^2, 0, m_{\phi_m}^2 \right) + m_t^2 D_0 \left(m_W^2, 0, m_{\phi_m}^2, m_t^2 \right) - 2 \left(D_{00} \left(m_W^2, 0, m_{\phi_m}^2, m_t^2 \right) + D_{00} \left(m_W^2, m_{\phi_m}^2, m_t^2, m_t^2 \right) - 2 \left(D_{00} \left(m_W^2, 0, m_{\phi_m}^2, m_t^2 \right) + D_{00} \left(m_W^2, m_{\phi_m}^2, m_t^2, m_t^2 \right) \right) \right) \right] \right\},$$

$$g_{LV(d)}^{\gamma} = -\frac{\alpha}{144\pi} \sum_m \frac{\lambda_{23m}^{LQ} \lambda_{13m}^{LQ*}}{m_{\phi_m}^2} \frac{t_{3m}^3 - 18t_{3m}^2 + 27t_{3m} + 2 \left(t_{3m}^3 + 6t_{3m} - 4 \right) \ln \left(t_{3m} \right) - 10}{\left(t_{3m} - 1 \right)^4}$$

$$g_{LV(d)}^{Z} = \frac{g^{2} \left(4s_{W}^{2} - 3\right)}{128\pi^{2}m_{W}^{2}} \sum_{m} \lambda_{23m}^{LQ} \lambda_{13m}^{LQ*} \frac{t_{3m} \left(t_{3m} - \ln\left(t_{3m}\right) - 1\right)}{\left(t_{3m} - 1\right)^{2}}, \qquad (4.17c)$$

and

$$g_{LV(u)}^{\text{box}} = 0, \qquad g_{LV(u)}^{\gamma} = -2g_{LV(d)}, \qquad g_{LV(u)}^{Z} = -\frac{8s_{W}^{2} - 3}{4s_{W}^{2} - 3}g_{LV(d)}^{Z}.$$
 (4.18)

The gluon penguin contribution vanishes due to its color structure. As the coherent conversion process dominates, i.e. the final state of the nucleon is the same as the initial state [61], the vector coupling to the sea quarks vanishes and it is enough to consider

$$g_{LV(u)} = g_{LV(u)}^{\text{box}} + g_{LV(u)}^{\gamma} + g_{LV(u)}^{Z}, \qquad g_{LV(d)} = g_{LV(d)}^{\text{box}} + g_{LV(d)}^{\gamma} + g_{LV(d)}^{Z}.$$
(4.19)

The coefficients of the vector interaction with protons and neutrons are defined by

$$\tilde{g}_{LS,RS}^{(p)} = \sum_{q} G_S^{(q,p)} g_{LS,RS(q)} , \qquad \qquad \tilde{g}_{LS,RS}^{(n)} = \sum_{q} G_S^{(q,n)} g_{LS,RS(q)} , \qquad (4.20)$$

$$\tilde{g}_{LV}^{(p)} = 2 g_{LV(u)} + g_{LV(d)}, \qquad \qquad \tilde{g}_{LV}^{(n)} = g_{LV(u)} + 2 g_{LV(d)}, \qquad (4.21)$$

with the coefficients $G_S^{(u,p)} = G_S^{(d,n)} = 5.1$, $G_S^{(u,n)} = G_S^{(d,p)} = 4.3$ and $G_S^{(s,p)} = G_S^{(s,n)} = 2.5$ [61, 62]. In terms of these expressions, we can express the conversion rate as

$$\omega_{\rm conv} = 4 \left| \frac{1}{8} A_R^* D + \tilde{g}_{LS}^{(p)} S^{(p)} + \tilde{g}_{LS}^{(n)} S^{(n)} + \tilde{g}_{LV}^{(p)} V^{(p)} + \tilde{g}_{LV}^{(n)} V^{(n)} \right|^2 + 4 \left| \frac{1}{8} A_L^* D + \tilde{g}_{RS}^{(p)} S^{(p)} + \tilde{g}_{RS}^{(n)} S^{(n)} + \tilde{g}_{RV}^{(p)} V^{(p)} + \tilde{g}_{RV}^{(n)} V^{(n)} \right|^2, \qquad (4.22)$$

(4.17b)

	$S^{(p)}$	$S^{(n)}$	$V^{(p)}$	$V^{(n)}$	D	$\omega_{\rm capt}(10^6 s^{-1})$
$^{197}_{79}{ m Au}$	0.167	0.0523	0.0610	0.0859	0.108	13.07
$^{48}_{22}{ m Ti}$	0.0870	0.0371	0.0462	0.0399	0.0495	2.59
$^{27}_{13}\text{Al}$	0.0169	0.0153	0.0163	0.0357	0.0159	0.7054

Table 1. The overlap integrals in the unit of $m_{\mu}^{5/2}$ and the total capture rates for different nuclei. The overlap integrals of ${}^{197}_{79}$ Au as well as ${}^{27}_{13}$ Al are taken from table 2 and ${}^{48}_{22}$ Ti are taken from table 4 of [61], while the total capture rates are both from table 8.

where the overlap integrals D, $S^{(p)}$, $S^{(n)}$, $V^{(p)}$ and $V^{(n)}$ take values as shown in table 1. The branching ratio is defined by $\operatorname{Br}(\mu N \to eN) \equiv \omega_{\operatorname{conv}}/\omega_{\operatorname{capt}}$. In figure 6 we present the contour plots of the branching ratio for $\mu \leftrightarrow e$ conversion in $^{197}_{79}$ Au, $^{48}_{22}$ Ti and $^{27}_{13}$ Al, where the first gives the most stringent current constraints and the last two may give the most stringent future ones.¹¹ The current bounds from $\mu \leftrightarrow e$ conversion in $^{197}_{79}$ Au at $m_f = 1 \text{ TeV}$ and $m_f = 10 \text{ TeV}$ are plotted in red figure 6a and figure 6b, which are obviously the most stringent ones so far compared with those from $\mu \to e\gamma$ and $\mu \to eee$. When we increase the mass of the colored octet, the exclusion region gets smaller because the dominant contribution, the Z-penguin, scales as $m_f^{-3/2} \ln m_f^2$. For $\mu \leftrightarrow e$ conversion in $^{48}_{22}$ Ti, although the current data gives weaker bounds, the COMET experiment [63, 64] will be able to explore a much larger region of the parameter space or give the strongest bounds in the future, i.e. the dashed thick line in figure 6d as well as the whole region shown in figure 6c.

4.5 Other constraints

In the previous subsection, we discussed the most stringent constraints. In this subsection, we discuss constraints which turn out to be not competitive compared to the constraints from LFV processes. We start with dimension-6 operators generated at tree-level using the list of constraints compiled in ref. [69], then discuss bounds from meson mixing, the $b \rightarrow s$ transition using the constraints in [70, 71] and finally generic dimension-6 operators LLQQ generated at the one-loop order using the list of constraints in ref. [69].

4.5.1 Processes from $\Delta F = 0$ operators generated at tree level

Integrating out the leptoquarks leads to a few new operators at tree-level involving only the third generation of quarks. In particular, we generate the operators

$$C_{ijtt}^{\ell u,RL} 2\sqrt{2}G_F(\bar{\ell}_i\gamma^{\mu}P_R\ell_j)(\bar{t}\gamma_{\mu}P_Lt), \qquad C_{ijtb}^{CC,LL} 2\sqrt{2}G_F(\bar{\ell}_i\gamma^{\mu}P_L\nu_j)(\bar{t}\gamma_{\mu}P_Lb), \qquad (4.23)$$

$$C_{ijkl}^{\nu d,LL} 2\sqrt{2}G_F(\bar{\nu}_i\gamma^{\mu}P_L\nu_j)(\bar{d}_k\gamma_{\mu}P_Ld_l), \qquad C_{ijkl}^{\nu d,RL} 2\sqrt{2}G_F(\bar{\nu}_i\gamma^{\mu}P_R\nu_j)(\bar{d}_k\gamma_{\mu}P_Ld_l),$$

¹¹The bound from μ Pb $\rightarrow e$ Pb conversion by the SINDRUM II experiment [68] is less competitive than $\mu \leftrightarrow e$ conversion in ¹⁹⁷₇₉Au.













Figure 6. Contour plots of the branching ratio of $\mu \leftrightarrow e$ conversion, current experimental bounds (in red) and prospects (thick dashed lines) in $^{197}_{79}$ Au (top), $^{48}_{22}$ Ti (center), and $^{27}_{13}$ Al (bottom) at $m_f = 1, 10$ TeV. The Yukawa couplings $\lambda^{df}_{3\alpha}$ are set to 1. The current most stringent bound comes from Br(μ Au $\rightarrow e$ Au) $< 7 \times 10^{-13}$ at 90 % C.L. [55] and the best experimental prospects are from Br(μ Al $\rightarrow e$ Al) $\leq 10^{-16}$ [63–67] as well as Br(μ Ti $\rightarrow e$ Ti) $\leq 10^{-18}$ [63, 64] improving the current limit Br(μ Ti $\rightarrow e$ Ti) $< 4.3 \times 10^{-12}$ at 90% C.L. [55].

with their Wilson coefficients given by

. .

$$C_{ijtt}^{\ell u,LR} = -\sum_{m} \frac{\lambda_{i3m}^{LQ} \lambda_{j3m}^{LQ*}}{4\sqrt{2}G_F \, m_{\phi_m}^2}, \qquad C_{ijtb}^{CC,LL} = V_{tb} \sum_{m} \frac{\lambda_{j3m}^{LQ} \lambda_{i3m}^{LQ*}}{4\sqrt{2}G_F \, m_{\phi_m}^2}, \qquad (4.24)$$

$$C_{ijkl}^{\nu d,LL} = -V_{tk}^* V_{tl} \sum_{m} \frac{\lambda_{j3m}^{LQ*} \lambda_{i3m}^{LQ}}{4\sqrt{2}G_F \, m_{\phi_m}^2}, \qquad C_{ijkl}^{\nu d,LR} = V_{tk}^* V_{tl} \sum_{m} \frac{\lambda_{j3m}^{LQ*} \lambda_{i3m}^{LQ}}{4\sqrt{2}G_F \, m_{\phi_m}^2}.$$

There are already weak constraints on the Wilson coefficient $C_{ijtt}^{\ell u,RL}$, mainly from Zdecay [69]. The most stringent constraint is $C_{\mu\mu\mu tt}^{\ell u,RL} < 0.061$ from $Z \to \mu \bar{\mu}$. It translates into

$$m_{\phi_m} \gtrsim \left(\frac{\sqrt{\lambda_{23m}^{LQ}\lambda_{23m}^{LQ*}}}{0.1}\right) \times 50 \,\mathrm{GeV}$$

$$(4.25)$$

and currently does not pose any competitive constraint. The bound on $C_{ijtt}^{\ell u,RL}$ with $i, j = e, \mu$ could be improved by measuring the top pair-production cross section at a lepton collider precisely, like a future linear collider. The Wilson coefficient $C_{ijtb}^{CC,LL}$, leads to an additional contribution to top decay. We can estimate its relative contribution to the dominant top decay, $t \to W^+ b \to \ell_i^+ \nu b$, as

$$\sum_{l,m} \frac{C_{ijtb}^{CC,LL}}{V_{tb}} = \sum_{j,m} \frac{\lambda_{i3m}^{LQ*} \lambda_{j3m}^{LQ}}{4\sqrt{2}G_F \, m_{\phi_m}^2} \,. \tag{4.26}$$

However, the resulting constraint is not as stringent as the constraints from LFV processes. It would require a big improvement of the precision or a dedicated analysis of the angular distribution due to the different angular dependence compared to $t \to Wb$. The Wilson coefficients $C_{ijbb}^{\nu b,LL(RL)}$ contribute to the invisible decay of $\Upsilon(nS)$ competing with the SM decay mediated by an *s*-channel *Z*-boson, but there are no limits and the experimental sensitivity is not good enough to measure even the SM decay. The bounds from semi-leptonic meson decays collected in table 12 in [69] lead to a lower bound on $m_{\phi_m}/\sqrt{\lambda_{i3m}^{LQ*}\lambda_{j3m}^{LQ}}$ of the order of 770 GeV for $C_{ijds}^{\nu b,LL(RL)}$, 52 GeV for $C_{ijbd}^{\nu b,LL(RL)}$, 800 GeV for $C_{ijbs}^{\nu b,LL(RL)}$. A comparison with realistic values, $m_{\phi_m} \gtrsim 100$ GeV and $|\lambda_{i3m}^{LQ}| \lesssim 0.1$, demonstrates that there is currently no competitive constraint from this class of operators.

4.5.2 Meson mixing

The most general effective Hamiltonian has the form, following the notation of [72],

$$\mathcal{H}_{\text{eff}}^{ij} = \sum_{m=1}^{5} C_m^{ij} Q_m^{ij} + \sum_{m=1}^{3} \tilde{C}_m^{ij} \tilde{Q}_m^{ij}, \qquad (4.27)$$

where the superscripts i, j denote the quark flavors, $C_m^{ij}(\tilde{C}_m^{ij})$ the Wilson coefficients and $Q_m^{ij}(\tilde{Q}_m^{ij})$ the following operators

$$Q_{1}^{ij} = (\bar{q}_{i}^{\alpha}\gamma_{\mu}P_{L}q_{j}^{\alpha})(\bar{q}_{i}^{\beta}\gamma^{\mu}P_{L}q_{j}^{\beta}), \quad Q_{2}^{ij} = (\bar{q}_{i}^{\alpha}P_{L}q_{j}^{\alpha})(\bar{q}_{i}^{\beta}P_{L}q_{j}^{\beta}), \quad Q_{3}^{ij} = (\bar{q}_{i}^{\alpha}P_{L}q_{j}^{\beta})(\bar{q}_{i}^{\beta}P_{L}q_{j}^{\alpha}), \\ Q_{4}^{ij} = (\bar{q}_{i}^{\alpha}P_{L}q_{j}^{\alpha})(\bar{q}_{i}^{\beta}P_{R}q_{j}^{\beta}), \qquad Q_{5}^{ij} = (\bar{q}_{i}^{\alpha}P_{L}q_{j}^{\beta})(\bar{q}_{i}^{\beta}P_{R}q_{j}^{\alpha}),$$
(4.28)

the Greek letters being color indices. The operators \tilde{Q}_m^{ij} are obtained from the operators Q_m^{ij} by the exchange $L \leftrightarrow R$.

The leptoquarks contribute to meson mixing via one-loop box diagrams with neutrinos and leptoquarks in the loop. These box diagrams only induce the Wilson coefficient

$$\tilde{C}_{1}^{ij} = -\frac{V_{ti}^{2}V_{tj}^{*2}}{48\pi^{2}} \sum_{i,j,m,n} \frac{\lambda_{i3m}^{LQ} \lambda_{j3n}^{LQ} \lambda_{i3n}^{LQ*} \lambda_{j3m}^{LQ*}}{m_{\phi_{m}}^{2} - m_{\phi_{n}}^{2}} \ln\left(\frac{m_{\phi_{m}}^{2}}{m_{\phi_{n}}^{2}}\right)$$
(4.29)

in the approximation of vanishing SM fermion masses. Note that the chirality structure differs from the ordinary SM contribution of the one-loop box diagram with W-bosons and tops in the loop (see e.g. [73]):

$$C_1^{ij} = \frac{G_F^2 m_W^2}{12\pi^2} V_{ti}^2 V_{tj}^{*2} S_0\left(\frac{m_t^2}{m_W^2}\right)$$
(4.30)

with the well-known Inami-Lim function [74]

$$S_0(x) = x \left[\frac{1}{4} + \frac{9}{4} \frac{1}{1-x} - \frac{3}{2} \frac{1}{(1-x)^2} \right] - \frac{3}{2} \left[\frac{x}{1-x} \right]^3 .$$
(4.31)

There is no contribution from the leptoquarks to $D_0 - \overline{D}_0$ mixing.

As the different operators are mixed by renormalization group running, we have to evolve the Wilson coefficients from the matching scale to the scale of the relevant meson. Hence, the meson mixing amplitudes for $\bar{B}_q - B_q$ with q = d, s as well as $\bar{K}_0 - K_0$ mixing are given by

$$\langle K_0 | \mathcal{H}_{\text{eff}}^{NP}(\mu_K) | \bar{K}_0 \rangle = \sum_i (b_i^{r,1} + \eta \, c_i^{r,1}) \, \eta^{a_i} \tilde{C}_1^{ds} \left\langle K_0 | \tilde{Q}_r^{ds} | \bar{K}_0 \right\rangle \,,$$
(4.32a)

$$\left\langle B_d | \mathcal{H}_{\text{eff}}^{NP}(\mu_b) | \bar{B}_d \right\rangle = \sum_i (b_i^{r,1} + \eta \, c_i^{r,1}) \, \eta^{a_i} \tilde{C}_1^{db} \left\langle B_d | \tilde{Q}_r^{db} | \bar{B}_d \right\rangle \,, \tag{4.32b}$$

$$\left\langle B_s | \mathcal{H}_{\text{eff}}^{NP}(\mu_b) | \bar{B}_s \right\rangle = \sum_i (b_i^{r,1} + \eta \, c_i^{r,1}) \, \eta^{a_i} \tilde{C}_1^{sb} \left\langle B_s | \tilde{Q}_r^{db} | \bar{B}_s \right\rangle \,, \tag{4.32c}$$

where $\eta = \alpha_s(\Lambda)/\alpha_s(m_t)$, the magic numbers $a_i, b_i^{r,1}, c_i^{r,1}$ as well as the matrix elements for K(B) meson mixing can be found in ref. [75] ([76]). As we are only interested in an order of magnitude estimate, we will take $\Lambda = m_t$, i.e. $\eta = 1$, which means we are neglecting the running from the leptoquark mass to the top-quark mass. In this approximation, the meson matrix elements are

$$\langle K_0 | \mathcal{H}_{\text{eff}}^{NP}(\mu_K) | \bar{K}_0 \rangle = \eta_K \tilde{C}_1^{ds} \frac{1}{3} M_K f_K^2 B_1^K(\mu_K) ,$$
 (4.33a)

$$\langle B_d | \mathcal{H}_{\text{eff}}^{NP}(\mu_b) | \bar{B}_d \rangle = \eta_B \tilde{C}_1^{db} \frac{1}{3} M_{B_d} f_{B_d}^2 B_1^B(\mu_b) ,$$
 (4.33b)

$$\langle B_s | \mathcal{H}_{\text{eff}}^{NP}(\mu(b) | \bar{B}_s \rangle = \eta_B \tilde{C}_1^{sb} \frac{1}{3} M_{B_s} f_{B_s}^2 B_1^B(\mu_b) ,$$
 (4.33c)

where $\mu_K = 2 \text{ GeV}$ and $\mu_b = 4.6 \text{ GeV}$. The QCD correction factors are $\eta_K = 0.804$ and $\eta_B = 0.848$, while the bag parameters are $B_1^K(\mu_K) = 0.60$ and $B_1^B(\mu_b) = 0.87$. The SM

contribution at the low-energy scale looks analogous, since it trivially satisfies $\Lambda = m_t$, which means the following ratios are independent of the meson masses, bag parameter and QCD running:

$$\frac{\langle M | \mathcal{H}_{\text{eff}}^{NP}(\mu) | \bar{M} \rangle}{\langle M | \mathcal{H}_{\text{eff}}^{SM}(\mu) | \bar{M} \rangle} = \frac{\tilde{C}_{1}^{ij}}{C_{1}^{ij}} = -\sum_{i,j,m,n} \frac{\lambda_{i3m}^{LQ} \lambda_{j3n}^{LQ} \lambda_{i3n}^{LQ*} \lambda_{j3m}^{LQ*} \ln\left(\frac{m_{\phi_m}^2}{m_{\phi_n}^2}\right)}{4(m_{\phi_m}^2 - m_{\phi_n}^2) G_F^2 m_W^2 S_0\left(\frac{m_t^2}{m_W^2}\right)} \\ \approx -\sum_{i,j,m} \frac{|\lambda_{i3m}^{LQ} \lambda_{j3m}^{LQ}|^2}{8.6 G_F^2 m_W^2 m_{\phi_m}^2}, \qquad (4.34)$$

where we assumed that the leptoquarks have similar masses in the last equation and inserted $S_0\left(m_t^2/m_W^2\right) \approx 2.3.$

The UTfit collaboration [72, 77] simultaneously determines the CKM parameters and constraints on $\Delta F = 2$ processes in terms of ratios of the meson mixing amplitudes $\langle M | \mathcal{H}_{\text{eff}} | \bar{M} \rangle$ normalized to the SM prediction:

$$C_{B_q} e^{2i\phi_{B_q}} = \frac{\left\langle B_q | \mathcal{H}_{\text{eff}}^{full} | \bar{B}_q \right\rangle}{\left\langle B_q | \mathcal{H}_{\text{eff}}^{SM} | \bar{B}_q \right\rangle} = 1 + \frac{\left\langle B_q | \mathcal{H}_{\text{eff}}^{NP} | \bar{B}_q \right\rangle}{\left\langle B_q | \mathcal{H}_{\text{eff}}^{SM} | \bar{B}_q \right\rangle},$$
(4.35a)

$$C_{\Delta m_K} = \frac{\operatorname{Re}\left[\left\langle B_q | \mathcal{H}_{\text{eff}}^{full} | \bar{B}_q \right\rangle\right]}{\operatorname{Re}\left[\left\langle B_q | \mathcal{H}_{\text{eff}}^{SM} | \bar{B}_q \right\rangle\right]} = 1 + \frac{\operatorname{Re}\left[\left\langle B_q | \mathcal{H}_{\text{eff}}^{NP} | \bar{B}_q \right\rangle\right]}{\operatorname{Re}\left[\left\langle B_q | \mathcal{H}_{\text{eff}}^{SM} | \bar{B}_q \right\rangle\right]}, \quad (4.35b)$$

$$C_{\epsilon_{K}} = \frac{\mathrm{Im}\left[\left\langle B_{q}|\mathcal{H}_{\mathrm{eff}}^{full}|\bar{B}_{q}\right\rangle\right]}{\mathrm{Im}\left[\left\langle B_{q}|\mathcal{H}_{\mathrm{eff}}^{SM}|\bar{B}_{q}\right\rangle\right]} = 1 + \frac{\mathrm{Im}\left[\left\langle B_{q}|\mathcal{H}_{\mathrm{eff}}^{NP}|\bar{B}_{q}\right\rangle\right]}{\mathrm{Im}\left[\left\langle B_{q}|\mathcal{H}_{\mathrm{eff}}^{SM}|\bar{B}_{q}\right\rangle\right]} .$$
(4.35c)

The current best fit values for these parameters are given by [72, 77, 78]

$$C_{B_d} = 1.01 \pm 0.15, \qquad \phi_{B_d} = (2.2 \pm 3.7)^{\circ}, C_{B_s} = 1.03 \pm 0.10, \qquad \phi_{B_s} = (-0.84 \pm 2.47)^{\circ}, \qquad (4.36) C_{\Delta m_K} = 0.978 \pm 0.331, \qquad C_{\epsilon_K} = 1.08 \pm 0.18.$$

Hence, B meson mixing constrains the new physics contribution to be less than $\sim 10-15\%$ of the SM contribution and the absorptive part of the K meson mixing¹² constrains new physics to be less than $\sim 20\%$ compared to the SM. Therefore, we can naïvely estimate

$$10^{-3} \sum_{i,j,m} \frac{|\lambda_{i3m}^{LQ} \lambda_{j3m}^{LQ}|^2}{0.1^4} \left(\frac{100 \,\text{GeV}}{m_{\phi_m}}\right)^2 \ll 0.1\,, \tag{4.37}$$

which demonstrates that meson mixing does not lead to new competitive constraints.

¹²As the SM contribution to Δm_K is affected by long-distance contributions and can not be calculated reliably [78], we do not attempt to use it as constraint. The constraint shown in eq. (4.36) is obtained under the assumption that the long-distance to Δm_K can be as large as to saturate the experimental value [78].

4.5.3 Constraints from the $b \rightarrow s$ transition

Recently a model-independent analysis [70, 71] constrained the operators relevant for the $b \rightarrow s$ transition. We will apply the constraints from this analysis to our model. The new physics contributions to the $b \rightarrow s$ transition are described by the following effective Hamiltonian [79, 80]

$$\mathcal{H}_{\text{eff}} = -\frac{4G_F}{\sqrt{2}} V_{tb} V_{ts}^* \frac{e^2}{16\pi^2} \sum_i \left(C_i O_i + C_i' O_i' \right) + H.c. \,, \tag{4.38}$$

where the most sensitive operators to new physics are given by

$$\begin{aligned}
O_{7}^{(\prime)} &= \frac{m_{b}}{e} \left(\bar{s} \sigma_{\mu\nu} P_{R(L)} b \right) F^{\mu\nu}, & O_{8}^{(\prime)} &= \frac{g_{s} m_{b}}{e^{2}} \left(\bar{s} \sigma_{\mu\nu} T^{\alpha} P_{R(L)} b \right) G^{\mu\nu\,\alpha}, \\
O_{9}^{(\prime)} &= \left(\bar{s} \gamma_{\mu} P_{L(R)} b \right) \left(\bar{\ell} \gamma^{\mu} \ell \right), & O_{10}^{(\prime)} &= \left(\bar{s} \gamma_{\mu} P_{L(R)} b \right) \left(\bar{\ell} \gamma^{\mu} \gamma_{5} \ell \right), \\
O_{S}^{(\prime)} &= \frac{m_{b}}{m_{B_{s}}} \left(\bar{s} P_{R(L)} b \right) \left(\bar{\ell} \ell \right), & O_{P}^{(\prime)} &= \frac{m_{b}}{m_{B_{s}}} \left(\bar{s} P_{R(L)} b \right) \left(\bar{\ell} \gamma_{5} \ell \right).
\end{aligned}$$
(4.39)

The analysis in [70, 71] assumed $C_{9,10}^{(\prime)}$ to be independent of lepton flavor. In our model we expect all couplings λ_{i3m}^{LQ} to be of the same order of magnitude and therefore the decays are almost independent of lepton flavor. Although LFV decays are allowed in our case, this analysis should give bounds of the correct order of magnitude. Reference [70, 71] also assumed the (pseudo-) scalar operators $C_{S,P}^{(\prime)}$ to be proportional to the lepton Yukawa coupling as well as conservation of lepton flavor. They defined all Wilson coefficients at a matching scale $\mu_h = 160 \text{ GeV}$, with the operators $O_7^{(\prime)}$ and $O_8^{(\prime)}$ mixing under renormalization. At the low-scale $\mu_b = 2.8 \text{ GeV}$, only the operator $O_7^{(\prime)}$ was important and therefore only the linear combination¹³ $C_7^{(\prime)NP}(\mu_b) = 0.623 C_7^{(\prime)NP}(\mu_h) + 0.101 C_8^{(\prime)NP}(\mu_h)$ was constrained by the different *B*-decays, and all results were shown in the limit of vanishing $C_8^{(\prime)NP}(\mu_h)$ [70, 71]. In our case, there is a contribution to $C_8^{(\prime)}$, so we have to interpret all constraints on $C_7^{(\prime)NP}(\mu_h)$ as constraints on C_7 , $e_{ff} \equiv C_7^{(\prime)NP}(\mu_h) + 0.162 C_8^{(\prime)NP}(\mu_h)$ as discussed in ref. [70].

In our model, the Wilson coefficients in the approximation of massless lepton and light quark masses are given by

$$C_7 = \sum_{i,m} \frac{|\lambda_{i3m}^{LQ}|^2}{144\sqrt{2}G_F m_{\phi_m}^2}, \qquad C_7' = \frac{m_s}{m_b} \sum_{i,m} \frac{|\lambda_{i3m}^{LQ}|^2}{144\sqrt{2}G_F m_{\phi_m}^2}, \qquad (4.40)$$

$$C_8 = -\sum_{i,m} \frac{|\lambda_{i3m}^{LQ}|^2}{48\sqrt{2}G_F m_{\phi_m}^2}, \qquad C_8' = -\frac{m_s}{m_b} \sum_{i,m} \frac{|\lambda_{i3m}^{LQ}|^2}{48\sqrt{2}G_F m_{\phi_m}^2}, \qquad (4.41)$$

for the photonic and gluonic dipole operators, and therefore the combinations constrained

¹³We denote the new physics contribution by $C_i^{(\prime)\rm NP}$.

by the analysis are

$$C_{7,\text{eff}} = 0.514 \sum_{i,m} \frac{|\lambda_{i3m}^{LQ}|^2}{144\sqrt{2}G_F m_{\phi_m}^2} \sim 2.2 \times 10^{-4} \sum_{i,m} \left(\frac{|\lambda_{i3m}|}{0.1}\right)^2 \left(\frac{100 \,\text{GeV}}{m_{\phi_m}}\right)^2, \qquad (4.42)$$

$$C_{7,\text{eff}}' = 0.514 \frac{m_s}{m_b} \sum_{i,m} \frac{|\lambda_{i3m}^{LQ}|^2}{144\sqrt{2}G_F m_{\phi_m}^2} \sim 4.9 \times 10^{-6} \sum_{i,m} \left(\frac{|\lambda_{i3m}|}{0.1}\right)^2 \left(\frac{100 \,\text{GeV}}{m_{\phi_m}}\right)^2 \ . \tag{4.43}$$

Neglecting the phase of $C_{7,\text{eff}}^{(\prime)}$, the strongest constraint from table 3 in [71] translates into $|C_{7,\text{eff}}| < 0.017$ and $|C'_{7,\text{eff}}| < 0.20$ and therefore the constraints on $C_{7,\text{eff}}^{(\prime)}$ do not give competitive constraints on the leptoquarks ϕ_m compared to those from LFV processes.

The non-vanishing Wilson coefficients of the dimension-6 operators are evaluated as

$$C_{9} = C_{10} = \sum_{m} \frac{|\lambda_{i3m}^{LQ}|^{2}}{32\sqrt{2}\pi\alpha_{em}G_{F}} \Big\{ m_{t}^{2}y_{t}^{2}D_{0}\left(m_{W}^{2}, m_{\phi_{m}}^{2}, m_{t}^{2}, m_{t}^{2}\right) + g^{2} \Big[C_{0}\left(m_{W}^{2}, 0, m_{t}^{2}\right) \quad (4.44) \\ + m_{\phi_{m}}^{2}D_{0}\left(m_{W}^{2}, 0, m_{\phi_{m}}^{2}, m_{t}^{2}\right) - 2D_{00}\left(m_{W}^{2}, 0, m_{\phi_{m}}^{2}, m_{t}^{2}\right) - 2D_{00}\left(m_{W}^{2}, 0, m_{\phi_{m}}^{2}, m_{t}^{2}\right) - 2D_{00}\left(m_{W}^{2}, m_{\phi_{m}}^{2}, m_{t}^{2}\right) - 2D_{0}\left(m_{W}^{2}, m_{\phi_{m}}^{2}, m_{\phi_{m}}^{2}\right) - 2D_{0}\left(m_{W}^{2}, m_{\phi_{m}}^{2}, m_{$$

and we can estimate the magnitude for one leptoquark, ϕ_m , as

$$C_9 = C_{10} \sim 0.011 \left[1 + 0.012 \sum_{i} \left(\frac{|\lambda_{i3m}|}{0.1} \right)^2 \right] \left(\frac{\lambda_{k3m}^{LQ*} \lambda_{k3m}^{LQ}}{0.01} \right) \left(\frac{100 \,\text{GeV}}{m_{\phi_m}} \right)^2 \,. \tag{4.45}$$

The right-handed counterparts, $C'_{9,10}$, are proportional to m_s and vanish in the limit of vanishing quark masses for the first two generations. The Wilson coefficients $C^{(\prime)}_{S,P}$ vanish in the limit of massless neutrinos as well as the first two generations of leptons. Again, a comparison with the constraints in table 3 of [71] shows that the constraints on $C_{9,10}$ do not lead to competitive constraints on the leptoquarks ϕ_m .

Finally, let us comment on the newly measured decay $B_s \to \mu^+ \mu^-$ at the LHCb experiment [81, 82] as well as CMS experiment [83]. This measurement improves the constraint on C_9 and C_{10} . Naively rescaling the bound by the square root of the uncertainty in the measured branching ratio over the upper bound, we expect at most an improvement by one order of magnitude compared to the previous constraint. However, the constraints from LFV processes are still much stronger even assuming a very optimistic improvement of one order of magnitude over the old constraint.

4.5.4 $\Delta F = 1$ flavor changing neutral current processes at one-loop level

In the previous subsection we have discussed constraints from the $b \rightarrow s$ transition and in this subsection we broaden our view in this direction. Specifically we consider $\Delta F = 1$ operators, i.e. operators with a change of quark flavor. This brings in constraints from processes like (semi-) leptonic meson decays, precision measurements of Z-decay as well as collider searches for contact interactions. Neglecting all lepton/quark masses except for that of the top quark, the FCNC processes are determined by the following effective operator:

$$D_{ijkl}^{LR} 2\sqrt{2}G_F(\bar{d}_i\gamma^{\mu}P_Ld_j)(\bar{\ell}_k\gamma_{\mu}P_R\ell_l) . \qquad (4.46)$$

Note that the corresponding operator with an up-type quark current vanishes in this limit. Evaluating the expression, we arrive at an analogous expression to eq. (4.44),

$$D_{ijkl}^{LR} = \frac{V_{ti}^* V_{tj}}{32\pi^2} \bigg\{ 2 \sum_{i,m,n} \lambda_{l3m}^{LQ} \lambda_{k3n}^{LQ*} \lambda_{i3n}^{LQ} \lambda_{i3m}^{LQ*} D_{00} \left(0, m_{\phi_m}^2, m_{\phi_n}^2, m_t^2 \right) - \sum_{m} \lambda_{k3m}^{LQ*} \lambda_{l3m}^{LQ} \bigg[m_t^2 y_t^2 D_0 \left(m_w^2, m_{\phi_m}^2, m_t^2, m_t^2 \right) + g^2 \Big(C_0 \left(m_w^2, 0, m_t^2 \right) + m_{\phi_m}^2 D_0 \big(m_w^2, 0, m_{\phi_m}^2, m_t^2 \big) - 2D_{00} \big(m_w^2, m_{\phi_m}^2, m_t^2 \big) - 2D_{00} \big(m_w^2, m_{\phi_m}^2, m_t^2 \big) - 2D_{00} \big(m_w^2, m_{\phi_m}^2, m_t^2 \big) \bigg] \bigg\}.$$

We can estimate the magnitude of the Wilson coefficient as

$$|D_{ijkl}^{LR}| \sim 1.3 \times 10^{-5} \left[1 + 0.012 \sum_{i} \left(\frac{|\lambda_{i3m}|}{0.1} \right)^2 \right] V_{ti}^* V_{tj} \left(\frac{\lambda_{k3m}^{LQ*} \lambda_{l3m}^{LQ}}{0.01} \right) \left(\frac{100 \,\text{GeV}}{m_{\phi_m}} \right)^2 \,. \tag{4.48}$$

A comparison with the list of constraints on two-lepton, two-quark operators in table 2 of ref. [69] shows that the most constrained operators are $D_{1212} < 3 \times 10^{-7} = 8 \times 10^{-4} |V_{td}^* V_{ts}|$, $D_{2312} < 8 \times 10^{-5} = 1.9 \times 10^{-3} |V_{ts}^* V_{tb}|$, $D_{2311} < 1.8 \times 10^{-4} = 4.3 \times 10^{-3} |V_{ts}^* V_{tb}|$, and $D_{2322} < 7.0 \times 10^{-5} = 1.7 \times 10^{-3} |V_{ts}^* V_{tb}|$, where we already weighted each constraint by the CKM mixing. Most constraints originate from (semi-)leptonic *B*-decays as well as leptonic K_L decays. We already discussed the constraints from the $b \to s$ transition in a previous section. None of these constraints are competitive to the constraints from LFV processes.

5 Constraints from other flavor- and lepton-number violating processes

In the previous section, we have discussed the constraints from flavor physics for the Yukawa couplings required by the generation of neutrino masses. In the next two subsections, we address the remaining couplings, which will be generated radiatively in any case. We then discuss neutrinoless double beta-decay.

5.1 Constraints induced by right-handed coupling of the third generation

Now we consider the constraints from processes induced by non-zero λ_{i3m}^{eu} . Suppose this coupling constant is set equal to zero at some scale μ_0 . At other scales, it will be nonzero, and can be estimated by looking at the non-diagonal contribution to the renormalization group equation from a vertex correction,

$$16\pi^2 \frac{d\lambda_{ikm}^{eu}}{dt} \sim \left(Y_e^T\right)_{ij} \lambda_{jlm}^{LQ}(Y_u)_{lk}, \qquad (5.1)$$

where Y_u and Y_e are the up-quark and charged-lepton Yukawa couplings of the standard model in the *LR* convention, and $t = \ln \mu$. This leads to the estimate

$$\lambda_{i3m}^{eu}(\mu) \sim \frac{y_i y_t \lambda_{i3m}^{LQ}(\mu_0)}{16\pi^2} \ln \frac{\mu}{\mu_0} \,, \tag{5.2}$$

	m_f	m_{ϕ_1}	m_{ϕ_2}		$\max \lambda_{33m}^{eu} $	
	[GeV]	$[\mathrm{GeV}]$	[GeV]	$[{\rm Br}(\mu^- \to e^- \gamma)]$	$[{\rm Br}(\mu^- \to e^- e^+ e^-)]$	$[{\rm Br}(\mu N \to e N)]$
1	10^{3}	100	200	1.3×10^{-5}	2.0×10^{-4}	$6.7 imes 10^{-4}$
2	10^{3}	200	900	$7.7 imes 10^{-5}$	1.3×10^{-3}	4.3×10^{-3}
3	10^{3}	900	10^{4}	$9.8 imes 10^{-5}$	1.7×10^{-3}	$5.4 imes 10^{-3}$
4	104	10^{3}	$2 imes 10^3$	$7.6 imes 10^{-6}$	$1.2 imes 10^{-4}$	$3.9 imes 10^{-4}$
5	10^{4}	2×10^3	9×10^3	2.2×10^{-5}	3.8×10^{-4}	1.2×10^{-3}
6	10^{4}	9×10^3	10^{5}	7.2×10^{-4}	1.2×10^{-2}	4.0×10^{-2}

Table 2. Experimental constraints on λ_{33m}^{eu} from the three most constraining LFV processes under the assumption that both matrix elements are equal and $\lambda_{3m}^{df} = 1$.

i.e. the couplings to the different charged leptons are suppressed by their respective Yukawa couplings $(y_e, y_\mu, y_\tau) = (2.9 \times 10^{-6}, 6.1 \times 10^{-4}, 0.01)$. The couplings of the first two right-handed generations of up-type quarks are even further suppressed. We will discuss them in the following subsection together with the left-handed couplings to the first two generations.

These couplings will lead to additional contributions to LFV processes. In appendix A, we summarize the formulae of the additional contributions for radiative LFV decays, $\mu^- \rightarrow e^-e^+e^+$ as well as $\mu \leftrightarrow e$ conversion in nuclei in order to illustrate their effects. Generally, we expect similar constraints for the right-handed couplings (neglecting the left-handed couplings) as for the left-handed couplings. However, there might be cancellations and the bounds weakened if both couplings are present. In order to illustrate the constraints on the couplings λ^{eu} in presence of the couplings λ^{LQ} , we will consider six benchmark points and calculate the constraints for these points. The results are shown in table 2 and the bounds on λ^{eu}_{33m} are of the order of $10^{-5} - 10^{-3}$ assuming the mentioned constraints. Obviously, the bounds get weaker the larger the overall mass scale. The upper bounds are all higher than the estimates of eq. (5.2), so it is phenomenologically consistent to set these Yukawa couplings to zero at $\mu_0 \sim$ GeV.

5.2 Constraints from flavor-violating processes induced by coupling to the first two generations of quarks

Similarly to the right-handed coupling λ^{eu} , the couplings to the first two generations are generated radiatively as well. The wave-function renormalization of the left-handed quark doublet induces the following flavor-non-diagonal contributions to the coupling λ^{LQ} :

$$16\pi^2 \frac{d\lambda_{ikm}^{LQ}}{dt} \sim \lambda_{ilm}^{LQ} \left(Y_u Y_u^{\dagger} + Y_d Y_d^{\dagger} \right)_{lk} = \lambda_{ilm}^{LQ} \left(\operatorname{diag}(y_u^2, y_c^2, y_t^2) + V \operatorname{diag}(y_d^2, y_s^2, y_b^2) V^{\dagger} \right)_{lk},$$
(5.3)

where Y_u and Y_d are the up- and down-type SM quark Yukawa couplings. Hence the RG contribution to the left-handed coupling to the first two generations of quarks can be estimated as

$$\lambda_{ikm}^{LQ}(\mu) \sim V_{tk} \frac{V_{tb} y_b^2 \lambda_{i3m}^{LQ}(\mu_0)}{16\pi^2} \ln \frac{\mu}{\mu_0}, \qquad (5.4)$$

or explicitly in terms of the Wolfenstein parameterization as

$$\lambda_{i1m}^{LQ}(\mu) \sim A\lambda^3(\rho + i\eta) \frac{y_b^2 \lambda_{i3m}^{LQ}(\mu_0)}{16\pi^2} \sim 10^{-8} \lambda_{i3m}^{LQ}(\mu_0) \ln \frac{\mu}{\mu_0}, \qquad (5.5a)$$

$$\lambda_{i2m}^{LQ}(\mu) \sim A\lambda^2 \, \frac{y_b^2 \lambda_{i3m}^{LQ}(\mu_0)}{16\pi^2} \sim 10^{-7} \lambda_{i3m}^{LQ}(\mu_0) \ln \frac{\mu}{\mu_0} \,. \tag{5.5b}$$

The couplings of the first two generations to the leptoquark ϕ and the fermionic coloroctet f, described by λ^{df} , is not induced at one loop if the right-handed mixing in the down sector vanishes

$$16\pi^2 \frac{d\lambda_{km}^{df}}{dt} \sim \lambda_{lm}^{df} \left(Y_d^{\dagger} Y_d \right)_{lk} = \lambda_{lm}^{df} \operatorname{diag}(y_d^2, y_s^2, y_b^2)_{lk} \,, \tag{5.6}$$

where the second equality holds for vanishing right-handed mixing. A small mixing is however induced at the two-loop order.

We will restrict ourselves to the discussion of the tree-level processes, since it is not the main focus of our paper, but would like to point out that there are also constraints from quark FCNCs, like meson mixing and $b \rightarrow s$ transitions, as we discussed in the previous section. In comparison to the previous section, these processes are not suppressed by the smallness of the CKM mixing angles. At tree-level, the leptoquark induces several operators of the type LLQQ

$$C_{ijkl}^{\ell u,LL} 2\sqrt{2}G_F(\bar{\ell}_i P_L \ell_j)(\bar{u}_k P_L u_l), \qquad C_{ijkl}^{\ell u,RR} 2\sqrt{2}G_F(\bar{\ell}_i P_R \ell_j)(\bar{u}_k P_R u_l), \quad (5.7a)$$

$$C_{ijkl}^{\ell u,VRL} 2\sqrt{2}G_F(\bar{\ell}_i\gamma^{\mu}P_R\ell_j)(\bar{u}_k\gamma_{\mu}P_Lu_l), \quad (5.7b)$$

$$C_{ijkl}^{\ell u,TLL} 2\sqrt{2}G_{F}(\bar{\ell}_{i}\sigma^{\mu\nu}P_{L}\ell_{j})(\bar{u}_{k}\sigma_{\mu\nu}P_{L}u_{l}), \quad C_{ijkl}^{\ell u,TRR} 2\sqrt{2}G_{F}(\bar{\ell}_{i}\sigma^{\mu\nu}P_{R}\ell_{j})(\bar{u}_{k}\sigma_{\mu\nu}P_{R}u_{l}), \quad (5.7c)$$

$$C_{ijkl}^{\nu d,VLR} 2\sqrt{2}G_{F}(\bar{\nu}_{i}\gamma^{\mu}P_{L}\nu_{j})(\bar{d}_{k}\gamma_{\mu}P_{R}d_{l}), \quad C_{ijkl}^{\nu d,VRR} 2\sqrt{2}G_{F}(\bar{\nu}_{i}\gamma^{\mu}P_{R}\nu_{j})(\bar{d}_{k}\gamma_{\mu}P_{R}d_{l}), \quad (5.7d)$$

$$C_{ijkl}^{CC,RR} 2\sqrt{2}C_{-}(\bar{\nu},P_{-}\ell_{-})(\bar{d}_{L}P_{-}u_{-}) = C_{ijkl}^{CC,VLL} 2\sqrt{2}C_{-}(\bar{\nu},\rho^{\mu}P_{R}\ell_{-})(\bar{d}_{L}\gamma_{-}P_{-}u_{-}) = C_{ijkl}^{CC,VL} 2\sqrt{2}C_{-}(\bar{\nu},\rho^{\mu}P_{R}\ell_{-})(\bar{d}_{L}\gamma_{-}P_{-}u_{-}) = C_{ijkl}^{CC,VL} 2\sqrt{2}C_{-}(\bar{\nu},\rho^{\mu}P_{R}\ell_{-})(\bar{d}_{L}\gamma_{-}P_{-}u_{-}) = C_{ijkl}^{CC,VL} 2\sqrt{2}C_{-}(\bar{\nu},\rho^{\mu}P_{R}\ell_{-})(\bar{\mu}P_{-}u_{-}) = C_{ijkl}^{CC,VL} 2\sqrt{2}C_{-}(\bar{\nu},\rho^{\mu}P_{R}\ell_{-})(\bar{\mu}P_{-}u_{-}) = C_{ijkl}^{CC,VL} 2\sqrt{2}C_{-}(\bar{\nu},\rho^{\mu}P_{R}\ell_{-})(\bar{\mu}P_{-}u_{-}) = C_{ijkl}^{CC,VL} 2\sqrt{2}C_{-}(\bar{\nu}P_{-}u_{-})(\bar{\mu}P_{-}u_{-})(\bar{\mu}P_{-}u_{-}) = C_{ijkl}^{CC,VL}$$

$$C_{ijkl}^{CC,TRR} 2\sqrt{2}G_F(\bar{\nu}_i \sigma^{\mu\nu} P_R \ell_j)(\bar{d}_k \sigma_{\mu\nu} P_R u_l) , \qquad (5.7f)$$

$$C_{ijkl} = 2\sqrt{2}G_F(\nu_i\sigma^{\mu\nu}P_R\ell_j)(d_k\sigma_{\mu\nu}P_Ru_l) .$$
(5.71)

The Wilson coefficients are given by

 $C_{ijkl}^{\ell u,VLR} 2\sqrt{2}G_F(\bar{\ell}_i\gamma^{\mu}P_L\ell_j)(\bar{u}_k\gamma_{\mu}P_Ru_l)\,,$

$$C_{ijkl}^{\ell u,LL} = -\frac{\lambda_{jkm}^{LQ} \lambda_{ilm}^{eu*}}{4\sqrt{2}G_F m_{\phi_m}^2}, \qquad C_{ijkl}^{\ell u,RR} = -\frac{\lambda_{jkm}^{eu} \lambda_{ilm}^{LQ*}}{4\sqrt{2}G_F m_{\phi_m}^2}, \qquad (5.8a)$$

$$C_{ijkl}^{\ell u,VLR} = -\frac{\lambda_{jkm}^{LQ}\lambda_{ilm}^{LQ*}}{4\sqrt{2}G_F m_{\phi_m}^2}, \qquad \qquad C_{ijkl}^{\ell u,VRL} = -\frac{\lambda_{jkm}^{eu}\lambda_{ilm}^{eu*}}{4\sqrt{2}G_F m_{\phi_m}^2}, \qquad (5.8b)$$

$$C_{ijkl}^{\ell u,TLL} = -\frac{\lambda_{jkm}^{LQ}\lambda_{ilm}^{eu*}}{16\sqrt{2}G_F m_{\phi_m}^2}, \qquad C_{ijkl}^{\ell u,TRR} = -\frac{\lambda_{jkm}^{eu}\lambda_{ilm}^{LQ*}}{16\sqrt{2}G_F m_{\phi_m}^2}, \qquad (5.8c)$$

$$C_{ijkl}^{\nu d,VLR} = \frac{\lambda_{jkm}^{LQ}\lambda_{ilm}^{LQ*}}{4\sqrt{2}G_F m_{\phi_m}^2}V_{ii}^*V_{jj}U_{kk}U_{ll}^*, \qquad C_{ijkl}^{\nu d,VRR} = -\frac{\lambda_{ikm}^{LQ}\lambda_{ilm}^{LQ*}}{4\sqrt{2}G_F m_{\phi_m}^2}V_{ii}V_{jj}^*U_{kk}U_{ll}^*, \qquad (5.8d)$$

$$C_{ijkl}^{\nu d, VRR} = -\frac{\lambda_{\hat{i}\hat{k}m}^{LQ} \lambda_{\hat{j}\hat{l}m}^{LQ*}}{4\sqrt{2}G_F m_{\phi_m}^2} V_{\hat{i}i} V_{\hat{j}j}^* U_{\hat{k}k} U_{\hat{l}l}^*, \qquad (5.8d)$$

$$C_{ijkl}^{CC,RR} = \frac{\lambda_{jlm}^{eu} \lambda_{\hat{i}\hat{k}m}^{LQ*}}{4\sqrt{2}G_F m_{\phi_m}^2} V_{\hat{i}i}^* U_{\hat{k}k}^*, \qquad C_{ijkl}^{CC,VLL} = -\frac{\lambda_{jlm}^{LQ} \lambda_{\hat{i}\hat{k}m}^{LQ*}}{4\sqrt{2}G_F m_{\phi_m}^2} V_{\hat{i}i}^* U_{\hat{k}k}^*, \qquad (5.8e)$$

$$C_{ijkl}^{CC,TRR} = -\frac{\lambda_{jlm}^{eu} \lambda_{\hat{i}km}^{LQ*}}{16\sqrt{2}G_F m_{\phi_m}^2} V_{\hat{i}i}^* U_{\hat{k}k}^* .$$
(5.8f)

Using the analysis in [69], we can derive bounds for the different operators.¹⁴ The tensor operators have not been studied in [69], neither possible scalar operators, where the color indices are not contracted within the same fermion chain. However, similar bounds should apply as for the scalar operators. Therefore, we will use the bound on the corresponding scalar operator to obtain an order of magnitude estimate for the bound of the tensor operator. As the CKM (PMNS) mixing angles are small (large), we approximate them by the identity (democratic, $U_{ij} \sim 1/\sqrt{3}$) matrix. Under these assumptions, we obtain constraints on the products of the couplings $\lambda^{LQ,eu}\lambda^{LQ,eu*}$. We will only highlight the most important constraints and refer the interested reader to the tables in [69], particularly tables 3,6,7 as well as tables 12–15. The most stringent constraints originate from leptonic meson decays, especially charged meson decays, as well as $\mu \leftrightarrow e$ conversion in nuclei. The constraints from leptonic charged meson decays especially constrain the operator $C_{ijkl}^{CC,RR} \sim 2.3 \lambda_{ilm}^{eu} \lambda_{ikm}^{LQ*} m_{\phi_m}^2$ neglecting mixing. A selection of constraints from table 14 in [69]:

- The measurement of the ratio of pions decaying to electrons vs muons, R_{π} , constrains $\lambda_{i1m}^{eu} \lambda_{11m}^{LQ*} \lesssim 6.8 \times 10^{-6} m_{\phi_m}^2 / m_W^2$ as well as $\lambda_{i1m}^{eu} \lambda_{21m}^{LQ*} \lesssim 1.4 \times 10^{-3} m_{\phi_m}^2 / m_W^2$.
- The measurement of $K^+ \to \bar{e}\nu_i$ leads to $\lambda_{i2m}^{eu} \lambda_{11m}^{LQ*} \lesssim 6.4 \times 10^{-6} m_{\phi_m}^2 / m_W^2$.
- The measurement of R_K leads to $\lambda_{i2m}^{eu} \lambda_{21m}^{LQ*} \lesssim 1.3 \times 10^{-3} m_{\phi_m}^2 / m_W^2$.
- The measurement of $B^+ \to \bar{e}\nu$ leads $\lambda_{i3m}^{eu} \lambda_{11m}^{LQ*} \lesssim 7.7 \times 10^{-5} m_{\phi_m}^2 / m_W^2$.
- The measurement of $B^+ \to \bar{\mu}\nu$ leads to $\lambda_{i3m}^{eu} \lambda_{21m}^{LQ*} \lesssim 4.3 \times 10^{-5} m_{\phi_m}^2 / m_W^2$.
- The measurement of $B^+ \to \bar{\tau}\nu$ leads to $\lambda_{i3m}^{eu} \lambda_{31m}^{LQ*} \lesssim 3.5 \times 10^{-4} m_{\phi_m}^2 / m_W^2$.
- The measurement of $D^+ \to \bar{\mu}\nu$ leads to $\lambda_{i1m}^{eu} \lambda_{22m}^{LQ*} \lesssim 1.6 \times 10^{-3} m_{\phi_m}^2 / m_W^2$.

Furthermore, we would like to highlight the constraint from $\mu \leftrightarrow e$ conversion in nuclei via a leptoquark exchange $\mu u \rightarrow \phi^* \rightarrow eu$. In this case the only relevant nonzero couplings in the effective Lagrangian eq. (4.16) are

$$g_{LS(u)} = -\sum_{m} \frac{\lambda_{21m}^{LQ} \lambda_{11m}^{eu*}}{2m_{\phi_m}^2}, \qquad g_{RS(u)} = -\sum_{m} \frac{\lambda_{21m}^{eu} \lambda_{11m}^{LQ*}}{2m_{\phi_m}^2}, \qquad (5.9a)$$

$$=\sum_{m} \frac{\lambda_{21m}^{LQ} \lambda_{11m}^{LQ*}}{2m_{\phi_m}^2}, \qquad g_{RV(u)} = \sum_{m} \frac{\lambda_{21m}^{eu} \lambda_{11m}^{eu*}}{2m_{\phi_m}^2}.$$
(5.9b)

Plugging them in eq. (4.22), we obtain for the conversion rate

 $g_{LV(u)}$

$$\omega_{\rm conv} = \left| \sum_{m} m_{\phi_m}^{-2} \left[\left(G_S^{u,p} S^{(p)} + G_S^{u,n} S^{(n)} \right) \lambda_{21m}^{LQ} \lambda_{11m}^{eu*} + \left(2V^{(p)} + V^{(n)} \right) \lambda_{21m}^{LQ} \lambda_{11m}^{LQ*} \right] \right|^2 (5.10) \\ + \left| \sum_{m} m_{\phi_m}^{-2} \left[\left(G_S^{u,p} S^{(p)} + G_S^{u,n} S^{(n)} \right) \lambda_{21m}^{eu} \lambda_{11m}^{LQ*} + \left(2V^{(p)} + V^{(n)} \right) \lambda_{21m}^{eu} \lambda_{11m}^{eu*} \right] \right|^2.$$

¹⁴Note that the analysis in [69] assumed no accidental cancellations between the different processes.



Figure 7. New contributions to neutrinoless double beta-decay.

Assuming that there is no accidental cancellation between the different terms, we obtain bounds on the different coupling combinations of the order of

$$\lambda_{21m}^{LQ}\lambda_{11m}^{eu*} \lesssim \left(4 \times 10^{-9} - 7 \times 10^{-8}\right) \frac{m_{\phi}^2}{m_W^2}, \quad \lambda_{21m}^{eu}\lambda_{11m}^{LQ*} \lesssim \left(4 \times 10^{-9} - 7 \times 10^{-8}\right) \frac{m_{\phi}^2}{m_W^2}, \quad (5.11a)$$

$$\lambda_{21m}^{LQ} \lambda_{11m}^{LQ*} \lesssim \left(10^{-8} - 10^{-7}\right) \frac{m_{\phi}^2}{m_W^2}, \qquad \lambda_{21m}^{eu} \lambda_{11m}^{eu*} \lesssim \left(10^{-8} - 10^{-7}\right) \frac{m_{\phi}^2}{m_W^2}. \tag{5.11b}$$

We conclude that there are already strong constraints on the couplings to the first two generations. In particular the coupling to the first generation of quarks is constrained by π^{\pm} decays via the measurement of R_{π} and the constraints from $\mu \leftrightarrow e$ conversion in nuclei.

5.3 Neutrinoless double beta-decay

As well as constraints from flavor violation, there are also, in principle, constraints from total lepton-number violating processes such as neutrinoless double-beta decay. A complete classification of all possible tree-level contributions to the relevant effective dimension-9 operators of neutrinoless double beta-decay has been given in ref. [38]. There are two possible contributions in this model besides the standard contribution from light neutrinos; they are shown in figure 7, the short-range contribution 5-i in the notation of [38] as well as the long-range contribution 2-i-b. The couplings of the leptoquark contributing to neutrinoless double beta-decay, i.e. $\lambda_{i1\alpha}^{LQ}$, $\lambda_{i1\alpha}^{eu}$ as well as $\lambda_{1\alpha}^{df}$, do not enter the expression for neutrino masses and thus are not constrained from below and can be arbitrary without affecting the neutrino mass contribution. Hence, we are left with the standard contribution from light neutrinos. The magnitude of the effective mass controlling the light neutrino contribution to neutrinoless double beta decay is given by

$$\langle m_{ee} \rangle = \sum U_{ei}^2 m_i . \tag{5.12}$$

As the mass of the lightest neutrino almost vanishes, we read off $\langle m_{ee} \rangle \simeq (0.2-4) \times 10^{-3} \text{ eV}$ [$(1-4) \times 10^{-2} \text{ eV}$] for $m_1 \simeq 0 \text{ eV}$ from figure 2 in [84] in case of a normal [inverted] mass ordering varying the other neutrino mass parameters in their 3σ ranges. Concluding, there are currently no constraints from neutrinoless double beta decay on the parameter space of this model.



Figure 8. Main pair production channels for leptoquarks.

6 Collider constraints

As there are several new particles in the model, which might have masses close to the electroweak scale, they can be searched for at colliders. In particular, hadron colliders, like the LHC, seem promising, because all new particles carry color charge and therefore couple to gluons. We will not perform a detailed collider study, since it is beyond the scope of this paper and thus left for future work, but we will discuss the different search channels for the scalar leptoquark and the fermionic colored octet in the following subsections.

6.1 Scalar leptoquark

The scalar leptoquark ϕ_{α} is mainly pair-produced in gluon fusion as well as $q\bar{q}$ annihilation, while the production via the exchange of leptons through Yukawa interactions is suppressed. The main pair production channels are shown in figure 8. There are more pair-production channels; however, they rely on Yukawa couplings to the first generation of quarks, which are highly constrained by flavor physics, as we discussed in section 5. Besides pair production, the leptoquark ϕ_{α} can also be singly produced via its Yukawa interactions $\lambda^{LQ,eu}$, but they are similarly suppressed compared to the pair-production channels relying on Yukawa couplings.

The leptoquark will decay into either a down-type, mostly b, quark and a neutrino or a top quark and a charged lepton. The decay into b quark plus missing transverse energy (MET) resembles the standard direct sbottom pair production search, but with a reduced branching fraction for $m_{\phi_{\alpha}} > m_t$. Hence, the possible collider signatures are two b-jets plus MET, leptons and/or additional jets in the final state. The leptoquarks in this model differ from the standard assumption in leptoquark searches that the leptoquark couples to one generation only. Due to the flavor structure of the neutrino mass matrix, the leptoquark has to couple to the third generation of left-handed quarks as well as all



Figure 9. Pair production channels of the fermionic colored octet.

three generations of left-handed leptons. The couplings to the right-handed particles as well as the first two generations of left-handed quarks are not required in order to generate neutrino masses and therefore can be arbitrarily small. In fact, the couplings to the first two generations of quarks are strongly constrained by collider searches and especially flavor physics constraints, as we discussed in section 5.

The CMS collaboration has performed a search for two *b*-jets plus MET, leptons and/or additional jets in the final state, based on $4.7 \,\mathrm{fb}^{-1}$ of $\sqrt{s} = 7 \,\mathrm{TeV}$ data [85]. The analysis sets a lower limit on m_{ϕ} of 450 GeV assuming a 100% branching fraction to a *b*-quark and a τ -neutrino. However the limit from this search is much lower for realistic branching fractions, since the branching fraction decreases from 100% for leptoquarks lighter than the top quark down to 50% for a leptoquark mass much heavier than the top quark. In our model, we expect a limit slightly above the top mass. Nonetheless this situation is certain to change with increased data and the LHC should be able to provide important constraints on this model. A detailed study is left for future work.

6.2 Fermionic colored octet

The fermionic colored octet f is pair-produced similarly to a gluino, dominantly via gluon fusion. The main production channels are shown in figure 9. It decays via the coupling λ^{df} into a down-type, mostly *b*-, quark and a leptoquark, which decays via the interactions $\lambda^{LQ,eu}$ to either a *b*-quark and a neutrino or a top quark and a charged lepton,

$$f \to b\phi^{\dagger} \to bb\nu$$
, and $f \to b\phi^{\dagger} \to bt\ell$. (6.1)

The top quark decays in the usual way into a W boson and a b-quark and therefore leads to another b-jet in the final state as well as additional jets, or a lepton and MET. Depending on the masses, the decays are via off-shell particles. Hence the final state contains four b-jets and depending on the decay channel MET, leptons and/or additional jets. As the fermionic colored octet is a Majorana fermion, it can lead to a fermion number violating process and lead to like-sign top as well as lepton pairs in the final state, which are ideal channels to search for new physics due to the small SM background. Due to the similarity of production as well as some of the decay channels with a gluino, we expect that the LHC experiments should be already able to produce reasonable constraints on the colored fermionic octet. However, none of the current searches is directly applicable without a simulation. In order to set a limit on m_f , a recent gluino search from the CMS collaboration could be exploited [86, 87]. This result is useful as they present the raw numbers obtained at a number of intermediate steps in the analysis, which would allow the differences between our present model and the SUSY gluino scenario to be accounted for. Despite this, we have not done this in the present paper for pragmatic reasons. As seen in section 3, the neutrino mass generated in our model is only weakly dependent on m_f , and derived limits are unlikely to meaningfully constrain the model. Future searches may alter this conclusion, but the more interesting constraint colliders can place on this model is through m_{ϕ_0} .

7 Naturalness constraints

As there are three scalars in the model, we have to discuss the effects of quadratic corrections to the scalar masses from other particles. We will firstly consider the contributions of the scalar leptoquarks as well as the fermionic colored octet to the SM Higgs and then calculate the quadratic correction to the leptoquark masses.

7.1 Contributions to the SM Higgs

The newly introduced particles, the colored octet fermion as well as the two leptoquarks, contribute to the effective Higgs potential. For completeness, we give the tree-level Higgs potential

$$V = -\mu^2 H^{\dagger} H + \lambda (H^{\dagger} H)^2 \tag{7.1}$$

and therefore the VEV $\langle H \rangle$ and the Higgs mass m_h^2 are given by

$$\langle H \rangle^2 = \frac{\mu^2}{2\lambda}$$
, and $m_h^2 = 4\mu^2 = 8\lambda \langle H \rangle^2$. (7.2)

We are especially interested in corrections to the mass terms, since they are quadratically sensitive to the new mass scales. Even setting all new couplings which do not enter the neutrino mass contribution to zero at some scale, there is a contribution dependent on the parameters $\lambda_{i3\alpha}^{LQ}$ as well as $\lambda_{3\alpha}^{df}$ at two-loop order,

$$-\frac{|y_b|^2}{(4\pi)^4} \sum_{\alpha} \left[3 \sum_i \left| \lambda_{i3\alpha}^{LQ} \right|^2 f_1(m_{\phi_\alpha}^2) + 4 \left| \lambda_{3\alpha}^{df} \right|^2 f_2(m_{\phi_\alpha}^2, m_f^2) \right] H^{\dagger} H , \qquad (7.3)$$

where the functions f_i encode the structure of the two-loop diagram. The relevant diagrams are shown in figure 10. We will use this contribution to estimate the natural region of parameter space, where the contribution to the Higgs mass is less than 126 GeV, the measured value of the resonance at the LHC:

$$\frac{12|y_b|^2}{(4\pi)^4} \sum_i \left|\lambda_{i3\alpha}^{LQ}\right|^2 m_{\phi_\alpha}^2 \lesssim 4\mu^2 = m_h^2 \quad \Rightarrow \qquad m_{\phi_\alpha} \lesssim \frac{1900}{\sqrt{\sum_i \left|\lambda_{i3\alpha}^{LQ}\right|^2}} m_h \quad (7.4a)$$

$$\frac{16|y_b|^2}{(4\pi)^4} \left| \lambda_{3\alpha}^{df} \right|^2 \max(m_{\phi_\alpha}^2, m_f^2) \lesssim 4\mu^2 = m_h^2 \quad \Rightarrow \quad m_{\phi_\alpha}, m_f \lesssim \frac{1600}{\left| \lambda_{3\alpha}^{df} \right|} m_h \,, \tag{7.4b}$$



 $H \xrightarrow{\phi_{\alpha}} f$

(a) Relevant contribution proportional to $(\lambda^{LQ})^2$.

(b) Relevant contribution proportional to $(\lambda^{df})^2$.

Figure 10. Different contributions to the effective Higgs potential.

where we assumed that the loop functions $f_i(m^2) \sim m^2$. Similarly, at three-loop order, there are contributions to the quartic Higgs coupling. However, they are too small to lead to any competitive constraints. Summarizing, naturalness prefers smaller masses of the new particles.

7.2 Naturalness of the leptoquark masses

Similarly to the Higgs mass, the mass term of the leptoquark receives corrections to its mass. The most important diagrams are shown in figure 11. We can readily estimate the contribution due to the fermionic colored octet f

$$(\delta m_{\phi}^2)_{\alpha\beta} = -\frac{4}{3} \frac{\lambda_{3\alpha}^{df} \lambda_{3\beta}^{df*}}{16\pi^2} A_0[m_f^2] \Rightarrow m_f \lesssim \frac{2\sqrt{3}\pi}{\left|\lambda_{3\alpha}^{df}\right|} m_{\phi_{\alpha}}$$
(7.5)

and therefore the hierarchy between the leptoquark masses and the colored octet mass is limited by naturalness depending on the coupling λ^{df} . Similarly, the hierarchy between the leptoquark masses itself is limited by naturalness

$$(\delta m_{\phi}^2)_{\alpha\beta} = -\sum_{\gamma,i,j} \frac{\lambda_{j3\alpha}^{LQ} \lambda_{j3\beta}^{LQ}}{(4\pi)^4} \left| \lambda_{i3\gamma}^{LQ} \right|^2 h_1(m_{\phi\gamma}^2) \Rightarrow m_{\phi\gamma} \lesssim \frac{16\pi^2}{\sqrt{\sum_{i,j} |\lambda_{j3\alpha}^{LQ} \lambda_{i3\gamma}^{LQ}|^2}} m_{\phi\alpha} , \qquad (7.6)$$

where h_1 encodes the loop integral structure. We do not take into account any corrections to the quartic interactions, since they do not lead to any competitive constraints. Concluding, naturalness disfavors a large hierarchy in the masses of the new particles.

8 Mathematica code

Together with this paper, we publish the Mathematica package ANT, which provides all Passarino-Veltman (PV) functions up to boxes in the limit of vanishing external momenta using the definitions of FormCalc/LoopTools [49]. In addition, it includes all first derivatives with respect to the external momenta of the following PV functions

 $B_0, \quad B_1, \quad C_0, \quad C_1, \quad C_2, \quad \text{and} \quad C_{00},$



(a) Relevant contribution proportional to $(\lambda^{df})^2$.

(b) Relevant contribution proportional to $(\lambda^{LQ})^4$.

Figure 11. Different contributions to the effective potential of the leptoquark.

which were necessary for the calculations in this work. See appendix C for the list of all PV functions contained in the Mathematica package. After loading the Mathematica package, the function ANT is available, which can be used to evaluate an arbitrary expression containing PV functions given in the limit of vanishing external momenta. Besides the function ANT, it defines the functions AOant, BOant, COant, and DOant, which directly evaluate to the result for the corresponding functions AO, BOi, COi, and DOi, respectively, in the given limit. The package ANT can be downloaded from http://ant.hepforge.org.

In order to illustrate the use of ANT, we give one short example and refer the interested reader to the documentation for further information. The following example code

```
<< ANT.m;
expr=a + b COi[cc0,0,0,0,m1s,m2s,0];
ANT[expr]
```

leads to the output

$$a + b \frac{2 \operatorname{m1s}^2 \log(\operatorname{m2s}) + 3 \operatorname{m1s}^2 - 2 \operatorname{m1s}^2 \log(\operatorname{m1s}) - 4 \operatorname{m1s} \operatorname{m2s} + \operatorname{m2s}^2}{6 \operatorname{(m1s} - \operatorname{m2s})^3}$$

9 Summary and conclusions

The origin of neutrino masses and mixings is one of the most important topics in physics beyond the standard model. The three well-known see-saw models are tree-level scenarios for Majorana neutrino mass generation that lie at one end of a whole sequence of possible models. Viewing these theories from the vantage point of gauge-invariant and baryonsymmetric effective operators that violate lepton number conservation by two units, the see-saw models are seen to be the simplest UV completions of the dimension-5 Weinberg operator LLHH. The other models in the sequence are based on more complicated effective operators, and they necessarily feature radiative neutrino mass generation. We have constructed and thoroughly analyzed the constraints on a new model of this kind, based on a certain UV completion of an effective operator with flavor structure $LLQd^cQd^c$. This is the first time, to our knowledge, that a radiative neutrino mass model involving exotic fermions in addition to exotic scalars has been so exhaustively studied. Neutrino masses and mixings are generated at 2-loop level using a Majorana color-octet fermion and two copies of a color-triplet, isosinglet, charge -1/3 leptoquark scalar.

Fitting the parameters to reproduce the observed neutrino masses and mixings, we then derived the constraints on the remaining parameter space from various, mainly flavorchanging processes. We focused on the region of parameter space where the only relevant Yukawa couplings were to the third generation. We found that the lepton-flavor-violating processes of μ to e conversion in nuclei, $\mu \rightarrow e\gamma$ and $\mu \rightarrow eee$ provided the most stringent constraints, as summarized in figures 4–6. We also derived bounds from other processes — exotic contributions to Z and t decay, neutral-meson mixing, $b \rightarrow s\gamma$ — that turned out to less constraining on the parameters of this particular model. Finally, we estimated bounds on Yukawa coupling constants that play no role in the generation of neutrino mass but are required by the theory to exist. These included the couplings of the leptoquarks to right-handed up-type quarks and charged leptons, and other Yukawa couplings to the first two generations of quarks and leptons.

Collider constraints were also examined. While the leptoquarks have the same quantum numbers as right-handed sbottoms, and similar states have in general have been searched for at the LHC, currently no useful collider bounds exist. The reason is that the characteristic leptoquark decay branching ratios in this model, as driven by their role in neutrino mass generation, place them out of view of current searches. This situation is expected to change in the future, however. The exotic fermion resembles a gluino, but since the neutrino masses and mixings do not depend critically on its mass, current collider constraints are not significant.

The dashed black lines in figures 4–6 show expected sensitivities of future experiments. Clearly, the best prospects lie in the quite significant improvements expected in μ to e conversion measurements [63, 64]. In addition, it would be very useful to extend the scope of LHC searches for leptoquark scalars to encompass a wider range of decay mode branching ratios.

Acknowledgments

We thank K. S. Babu, Y. Bai, I. Baldes, J. Barnard, T. Gherghetta, A. de Gouvêa, K. Mc-Donald, B. McKellar and M. White for many very useful discussions. We thank L. Silvestrini for providing a constraint on $C_{\Delta m_K}$ and explaining why it has been removed from the list. This work was supported in part by the Australian Research Council.

A More details of flavor physics

In this section, we summarize general formula for the contributions to LFV rare decays involving left- as well as right-handed couplings.

A.1 $l_i \rightarrow l_j \gamma$

Contributions to $l_i \rightarrow l_j \gamma$ from left- as well as right-handed couplings to the third generation of quarks are given by

$$\sigma_{Lij} = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \sum_{a=1}^{3} \sum_{m=1}^{2} \frac{\lambda_{iam}^{LQ} \lambda_{jam}^{LQ\dagger} m_{l_i} + \lambda_{iam}^{eu} \lambda_{jam}^{eu\dagger} m_{l_j}}{m_{\phi_m}^2} \frac{1 + 4t_{am} - 5t_{am}^2 + 2t_{am}(2 + t_{am}) \ln t_{am}}{4(t_{am} - 1)^4} + \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \sum_{a=1}^{3} \sum_{m=1}^{2} \frac{\lambda_{iam}^{LQ} \lambda_{jam}^{eu\dagger} m_{u_a}}{m_{\phi_m}^2} \frac{7 - 8t_{am} + t_{am}^2 + 2(2 + t_{am}) \ln t_{am}}{2(t_{am} - 1)^3} , \qquad (A.1a)$$

$$\sigma_{Rij} = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \sum_{a=1}^{3} \sum_{m=1}^{2} \frac{\lambda_{iam}^{LQ} \lambda_{jam}^{LQ\dagger} m_{l_j} + \lambda_{iam}^{eu} \lambda_{jam}^{eu\dagger} m_{l_i}}{m_{\phi_m}^2} \frac{1 + 4t_{am} - 5t_{am}^2 + 2t_{am}(2 + t_{am}) \ln t_{am}}{4(t_{am} - 1)^4} + \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \sum_{a=1}^{3} \sum_{m=1}^{2} \frac{\lambda_{iam}^{eu} \lambda_{jam}^{LQ\dagger} m_{u_a}}{m_{\phi_m}^2} \frac{7 - 8t_{am} + t_{am}^2 + 2(2 + t_{am}) \ln t_{am}}{2(t_{am} - 1)^3}, \quad (A.1b)$$

where $t_{am} = m_{u_a}^2 / m_{\phi_m}^2$ and m_{u_a} is the mass of the appropriate up-type quark mass.

A.2 $\mu^- \rightarrow e^- e^+ e^-$

In this subsection, we list the different contributions to $\mu^- \rightarrow e^- e^+ e^+$ from left- as well as right-handed couplings to the third generation of quarks

$$A_{1}^{L,R} = \sum_{a=1}^{3} \sum_{m=1}^{2} \frac{\lambda_{2am}^{LQ,eu} \lambda_{1am}^{LQ,eu\dagger}}{384\pi^{2} m_{\phi_{m}}^{2}} \times \frac{(t_{am}-1)\left(10 + (-17 + t_{am})t_{am}\right) - 2\left(4 - 6t_{am} - t_{am}^{3}\right)\ln t_{am}}{(t_{am}-1)^{2}}, \qquad (A.2a)$$

$$A_2^{L,R} = \frac{\sigma_{L21,R21}}{m_{\mu}},$$
(A.2b)

$$F_{L,R} = \sum_{a=1}^{3} \sum_{m=1}^{2} -\frac{3e\lambda_{2am}^{LQ,eu}\lambda_{1am}^{LQ,eu\dagger}}{32\pi^{3}\sin\theta_{W}\cos\theta_{W}} \frac{t_{am}(1-t_{am}+\ln t_{am})}{(t_{am}-1)^{2}},$$
 (A.2c)

$$B_{1}^{L,R} = \sum_{i,j,m,n} -\frac{3}{16\pi^{2}e^{2}} \lambda_{2im}^{LQ,eu} \lambda_{1in}^{LQ,eu\dagger} \lambda_{1jm}^{LQ,eu\dagger} \lambda_{1jn}^{LQ,eu} D_{00} \left[m_{\phi_{m}}^{2}, m_{\phi_{n}}^{2}, m_{u_{i}}^{2}, m_{u_{j}}^{2} \right], \quad (A.2d)$$

$$B_2^{L,R} = \sum_{i,j,m,n} -\frac{3}{16\pi^2 e^2} \lambda_{2im}^{LQ,eu} \lambda_{1in}^{LQ,eu\dagger} \lambda_{1jm}^{eu,LQ\dagger} \lambda_{1jn}^{eu,LQ} D_{00} \left[m_{\phi_m}^2, m_{\phi_n}^2, m_{u_i}^2, m_{u_j}^2 \right], \quad (A.2e)$$

$$B_{3}^{L,R} = \sum_{i,j,m,n} -\frac{3m_{u_{i}}m_{u_{j}}}{16\pi^{2}e^{2}}\lambda_{2im}^{eu,LQ}\lambda_{1in}^{LQ,eu\dagger}\lambda_{1jm}^{LQ,eu\dagger}\lambda_{1jn}^{eu,LQ}D_{0}\left[m_{\phi_{m}}^{2},m_{\phi_{n}}^{2},m_{u_{i}}^{2},m_{u_{j}}^{2}\right], \quad (A.2f)$$

$$B_{4}^{L,R} = 0, \qquad (A.2g)$$

where again $t_{am} = m_{u_a}^2 / m_{\phi_m}^2$ and $\sigma_{L,R}$ are as defined in eq. (A.1a) and (A.1b).

A.3 $\mu \leftrightarrow e$ conversion in nuclei

In this subsection, we list the right-handed contributions to $\mu \leftrightarrow e$ conversion in nuclei

$$g_{RV(d)}^{\text{box}} = \frac{|V_{td}|^2}{64\pi^2} \left\{ 2 \sum_{m,n,i} \lambda_{23m}^{eu} \lambda_{13n}^{eu*} \lambda_{i3n}^{LQ} \lambda_{i3m}^{LQ*} D_{00} \left(0, m_{\phi_m}^2, m_{\phi_n}^2, m_t^2 \right) \right\}$$
(A.3a)

$$+\sum_{m} \lambda_{23m}^{eu} \lambda_{13m}^{eu*} \left[2y_t^2 D_{00} \left(m_W^2, m_{\phi_m}^2, m_t^2, m_t^2 \right) - g^2 m_t^2 D_0 \left(m_W^2, m_{\phi_m}^2, m_t^2, m_t^2 \right) \right] \right\},$$

$$g_{RV(d)}^{\gamma} = -\frac{\alpha}{144\pi} \sum_{m} \frac{\lambda_{23m}^{eu} \lambda_{13m}^{eu*}}{m_{\phi_m}^2} \frac{t_{3m}^3 - 18t_{3m}^2 + 27t_{3m} + 2\left(t_{3m}^3 + 6t_{3m} - 4 \right) \ln\left(t_{3m} \right) - 10}{\left(t_{3m} - 1 \right)^4},$$
(A.3b)

$$g_{RV(d)}^{Z} = -\frac{g^2 \left(4s_w^2 - 3\right)}{128\pi^2 m_W^2} \sum_m \lambda_{23m}^{eu} \lambda_{13m}^{eu*} \frac{t_{3m} \left(t_{3m} - \ln\left(t_{3m}\right) - 1\right)}{\left(t_{3m} - 1\right)^2}, \qquad (A.3c)$$

and the corresponding up-type contributions are

$$g_{RV(u)}^{\text{box}} = 0, \qquad g_{RV(u)}^{\gamma} = -2 g_{RV(d)}^{\gamma}, \qquad g_{RV(u)}^{Z} = -\frac{8s_{W}^{2} - 3}{4s_{W}^{2} - 3} g_{RV(d)}^{Z}.$$
(A.4)

B Calculation of $I_{ij\alpha\beta}$

In this section we evaluate the integral $I_{ij\alpha\beta}$ from eq. (3.4) in general, and in the limit of vanishing quark masses. To do this we will partly use the results of [88–90]. Firstly we can use partial fractions to re-express the integral in terms of four simpler terms

$$I_{ij\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{m_f^2} \frac{1}{t_\alpha - r_i} \frac{1}{t_\beta - r_j} \left[\hat{I}(t_\alpha, t_\beta) - \hat{I}(r_i, t_\beta) - \hat{I}(t_\alpha, r_j) + \hat{I}(r_i, r_j) \right],$$
(B.1)

with

$$\hat{I}(s,t) \equiv \mu^{\epsilon} \int d^{d}p \int d^{d}q \frac{1}{p^{2} - s} \frac{1}{q^{2} - t} \frac{1}{(p+q)^{2} - 1},$$
(B.2)

where we have set $q \rightarrow -q$ and introduced the dimensionful parameter μ to facilitate dimensional regularization. In contrast to [88–90], we will not use the partial p operation of [91] to transform these integrals into less divergent expressions involving four propagators. It turns out here that neglecting this step leads to a simpler final result. The momentum space integration in eq. (B.2) can be performed through the introduction of Feynman parameters, yielding

$$\hat{I}(s,t) = \pi^4 \left(\frac{\mu}{\pi^2}\right)^{\epsilon} \Gamma\left[-1+2\epsilon\right] \int_0^1 dx \int_0^1 dy \frac{y^{\epsilon-1}}{(1-x)^{\epsilon} x^{\epsilon}} \left((1-y)s + \frac{y}{x}t + \frac{y}{1-x}\right)^{1-2\epsilon}.$$
 (B.3)

Expanding in ϵ and substituting this into eq. (B.1) we obtain

$$I_{ij\alpha\beta} = \frac{\pi^4}{m_f^2} \frac{1}{t_\alpha - r_i} \frac{1}{t_\beta - r_j} \int_0^1 dx \int_0^1 dy \left[h\left(t_\alpha, t_\beta\right) - h\left(r_i, t_\beta\right) - h\left(t_\alpha, r_j\right) + h\left(r_i, r_j\right) \right] , \quad (B.4)$$

where we have defined

$$h(s,t) \equiv \frac{sx(1-x)(1-y) + (1-x)yt + xy}{x(1-x)y} \ln \left[sx(1-x)(1-y) + (1-x)yt + xy\right] .$$
(B.5)

The integration with respect to y leads to an integral over a sum of dilogarithms

$$I_{ij\alpha\beta} = \frac{\pi^4}{m_f^2} \frac{1}{t_\alpha - r_i} \frac{1}{t_\beta - r_j} \left[-g\left(t_\alpha, t_\beta\right) + g\left(r_i, t_\beta\right) + g\left(t_\alpha, r_j\right) - g\left(r_i, r_j\right) \right], \quad (B.6)$$

where

$$g(s,t) \equiv s \int_0^1 dx \operatorname{Li}_2(1-\mu^2) \quad \text{with} \quad s\mu^2 \equiv \frac{1}{(1-x)} + \frac{t}{x} \;.$$
 (B.7)

Using the results in [88-90] the integral over x can be performed to obtain:

$$g(s,t) = \frac{s}{2}\ln s\ln\frac{t}{s} + \sum_{\pm} \pm \frac{s(1-s) + 3st + 2(1-t)x_{\pm}}{2w}$$
(B.8)

$$\times \left[\operatorname{Li}_2\left(\frac{x_{\pm}}{x_{\pm}-s}\right) - \operatorname{Li}_2\left(\frac{x_{\pm}-s}{x_{\pm}}\right) + \operatorname{Li}_2\left(\frac{t-1}{x_{\pm}}\right) - \operatorname{Li}_2\left(\frac{t-1}{x_{\pm}-s}\right) \right], \quad (B.9)$$

with

$$x_{\pm} = \frac{1}{2}(-1+s+t\pm w), \qquad w = \sqrt{1+s^2+t^2-2(s+t+st)}.$$
(B.10)

Looking back at eq. (B.6), it can be seen that terms depending only on one ratio $t_{i,j,\alpha,\beta}$ will vanish. Therefore, we can replace the function g in eq. (B.6) with the slightly simplified function

$$\hat{g}(s,t) \equiv g(s,t) + \frac{s}{2}\ln^2 s = \frac{s}{2}\ln s\ln t + \sum_{\pm} \pm \frac{s(1-s) + 3st + 2(1-t)x_{\pm}}{2w}$$
(B.11)

$$\times \left[\operatorname{Li}_2\left(\frac{x_{\pm}}{x_{\pm}-s}\right) - \operatorname{Li}_2\left(\frac{x_{\pm}-s}{x_{\pm}}\right) + \operatorname{Li}_2\left(\frac{t-1}{x_{\pm}}\right) - \operatorname{Li}_2\left(\frac{t-1}{x_{\pm}-s}\right)\right] . \quad (B.12)$$

The combination of eq. (B.6) with $g \to \hat{g}$ and B.12 provides the full analytic solution to $I_{ij\alpha\beta}$. Nevertheless it is also useful to evaluate the integral in the case of vanishing r_i and r_j , as the down-type quark masses are much lighter than the leptoquark and color octet masses. Thus we also present the integral in this limit

$$I_{\alpha\beta} \equiv I_{00\alpha\beta} = \frac{\pi^4}{m_f^2} \frac{\hat{g}\left(t_\alpha, 0\right) - \hat{g}\left(t_\alpha, t_\beta\right)}{t_\alpha t_\beta}, \qquad (B.13)$$

where the limit $\hat{g}(s,t) \xrightarrow{t \to 0} \hat{g}(s,0)$ is most easily obtained by taking the limit $t \to 0$ before performing the x-integration

$$\hat{g}(s,0) = -s\frac{\pi^2}{6} - (1-s)\ln s\ln(1-s) - (1-s)\operatorname{Li}_2(s) .$$
(B.14)

In order to verify our result, we compared each expression with the numerical integration of the integral eq. (3.4).

C Analytic expressions for certain Passarino-Veltman integrals

Here we give analytic expressions for the N-point functions used in the calculation of rare processes in the main text. All of the integrals are calculated in limit of zero external momentum. For the definition of the integrals, see [49, 92]. The two-point functions and their derivatives are as follows

$$B_0[a_2] = \Delta_\epsilon + 1 - \frac{t \ln t}{t - 1}, \qquad (C.1a)$$

$$B_1[a_2] = -\frac{1}{2}\Delta_{\epsilon} + \frac{1}{2}\ln\frac{m_2^2}{\mu^2} + \frac{-3t^2 + 2t^2\ln t + 4t - 1}{4(t-1)^2}, \qquad (C.1b)$$

$$m_2^{-2}B_{00}[a_2] = \frac{1}{4}(t+1)\Delta_{\epsilon} + \frac{3-3t^2+2t^2\ln t}{8(1-t)}, \qquad (C.1c)$$

$$B_{11}[a_2] = \frac{1}{3}\Delta_{\epsilon} + \frac{11t^3 - 6t^3\ln t - 18t^2 + 9t - 2}{18(t-1)^3},$$
 (C.1d)

where $a_2 = \{m_1^2, m_2^2\}, t = \frac{m_1^2}{m_2^2}$ and as we use dimensional regularization,

$$\Delta_{\epsilon} \equiv \frac{2}{\epsilon} - \gamma_E + \ln 4\pi \ . \tag{C.2}$$

Note that B_{00} is defined in the units m_2^2 , whereas the remaining two-point functions are dimensionless. The derivatives of the Bs are

$$m_2^2 \frac{\partial B_0[a_2]}{\partial p^2} = \frac{t \left(t^2 - 2t \ln t - 1\right)}{2(t-1)^3}, \qquad (C.3a)$$

$$m_2^2 \frac{\partial B_1[a_2]}{\partial p^2} = -\frac{t\left(t^3 - 6t^2 + 3t + 6t\ln t + 2\right)}{6(t-1)^4},$$
 (C.3b)

and both carry units of m_2^{-2} .

The three-point functions are given by

$$m_{3}^{2}C_{0}[a_{3}] = -\frac{t_{1}\ln t_{1}}{(t_{1}-1)(t_{1}-t_{2})} + \frac{t_{2}\ln t_{2}}{(t_{1}-t_{2})(t_{2}-1)},$$

$$m_{3}^{2}C_{1}[a_{3}] = -\frac{t_{2}}{2(t_{1}-t_{2})(t_{2}-1)} + \frac{t_{1}^{2}\ln t_{1}}{2(t_{1}-1)(t_{1}-t_{2})^{2}} - \frac{t_{2}(t_{1}(t_{2}-2)+t_{2})\ln t_{2}}{2(t_{1}-t_{2})^{2}(t_{2}-1)^{2}},$$
(C.4a)
(C.4b)

$$m_3^2 C_2[a_3] = -\frac{t_2 - t_1}{2(t_1 - 1)(t_1 - t_2)(t_2 - 1)} + \frac{t_1^2 \ln t_1}{2(t_1 - 1)^2(t_1 - t_2)} - \frac{t_2^2 \ln t_2}{2(t_1 - t_2)(t_2 - 1)^2}, \quad (C.4c)$$

$$C_{00}[a_3] = \frac{1}{4} \left(\Delta_{\epsilon} - \ln \frac{m_3^2}{\mu^2} \right) + \frac{3}{8} + -\frac{t_1^2 \ln t_1}{4 \left(t_1 - 1 \right) \left(t_1 - t_2 \right)} + \frac{t_2^2 \ln t_2}{4 \left(t_1 - t_2 \right) \left(t_2 - 1 \right)} \,, \quad (C.4d)$$

$$m_{3}^{2}C_{11}[a_{3}] = \frac{t_{2}\left((3t_{2}-5)t_{1}^{2}-4(t_{2}-2)t_{2}t_{1}+(t_{2}-3)t_{2}^{2}\right)}{6(t_{1}-t_{2})^{3}(t_{2}-1)^{2}}$$
(C.4e)

$$-\frac{t_1^3 \ln t_1}{3 (t_1 - 1) (t_1 - t_2)^3} + \frac{t_2 \left(\left(t_2^2 - 3t_2 + 3\right) t_1^2 + (t_2 - 3) t_2 t_1 + t_2^2\right) \ln t_2}{3 (t_1 - t_2)^3 (t_2 - 1)^3},$$

$$m_{3}^{2}C_{12}[a_{3}] = \frac{\left(t_{2}^{2}+1\right)t_{1}^{2}-t_{2}\left(t_{2}^{2}+t_{2}+2\right)t_{1}+t_{2}^{2}\left(t_{2}+1\right)}{6\left(t_{1}-1\right)\left(t_{1}-t_{2}\right)^{2}\left(t_{2}-1\right)^{2}} - \frac{t_{1}^{3}\ln\left(t_{1}\right)}{6\left(t_{1}-1\right)^{2}\left(t_{1}-t_{2}\right)^{2}} + \frac{t_{2}^{2}\left(t_{1}\left(t_{2}-3\right)+2t_{2}\right)\ln\left(t_{2}\right)}{6\left(t_{1}-t_{2}\right)^{2}\left(t_{2}-1\right)^{3}}, \qquad (C.4f)$$

$$m_{3}^{2}C_{22}[a_{3}] = \frac{\left(3-5t_{2}\right)t_{1}^{2}+\left(5t_{2}^{2}-1\right)t_{1}-3t_{2}^{2}+t_{2}}{6\left(t_{1}-1\right)^{2}\left(t_{1}-t_{2}\right)\left(t_{2}-1\right)^{2}} - \frac{t_{1}^{3}\ln t_{1}}{3\left(t_{1}-1\right)^{3}\left(t_{1}-t_{2}\right)} + \frac{t_{2}^{3}\ln t_{2}}{3\left(t_{1}-t_{2}\right)\left(t_{2}-1\right)^{3}}, \qquad (C.4g)$$

where $a_3 = \{m_1^2, m_2^2, m_3^2\}$ and $t_{1,2} = \frac{m_{1,2}^2}{m_3^2}$. C_{00} has mass dimension 0, whilst the other three-point functions are defined with units of m_3^{-2} .

The calculation of the γ -penguin used in the text also requires the derivatives of several of the three-point functions. Here we list the analytic expressions for those used:

$$m_{3}^{4} \frac{\partial C_{0}[a_{3}]}{\partial p_{1}^{2}} = -\frac{-2t_{2}t_{1}^{2} + t_{1}^{2} + (2t_{1} - 1)t_{2}^{2}}{2(t_{1} - 1)(t_{1} - t_{2})^{3}(t_{2} - 1)}$$
$$= -\frac{t_{1}\left(t_{1}^{2} + t_{2}t_{1} - 2t_{2}\right)\ln t_{1}}{2(t_{1} - 1)^{2}(t_{1} - t_{2})^{3}} + \frac{t_{2}\left(t_{2}^{2} + t_{1}\left(t_{2} - 2\right)\right)\ln t_{2}}{2(t_{1} - t_{2})^{3}(t_{2} - 1)^{2}},$$
(C.5a)

$$m_{3}^{4} \frac{\partial C_{0}[a_{3}]}{\partial p_{2}^{2}} = -\frac{(t_{2}+1)t_{1}^{2} - t_{2}(t_{2}+3)t_{1} + 2t_{2}^{2}}{2(t_{1}-1)(t_{1}-t_{2})^{2}(t_{2}-1)^{2}} + \frac{t_{1}^{2}\ln t_{1}}{2(t_{1}-1)^{2}(t_{1}-t_{2})^{2}} - \frac{t_{2}(t_{2}^{2}+t_{2}-2t_{1})\ln t_{2}}{2(t_{1}-t_{2})^{2}(t_{2}-1)^{3}},$$
(C.5b)

$$m_{3}^{4} \frac{\partial C_{0}[a_{3}]}{\partial p_{12}^{2}} = \frac{(1-t_{2})\left(-(t_{2}-2)t_{1}^{2}+(t_{2}-3)t_{2}t_{1}+t_{2}^{2}\right)}{2(t_{1}-1)^{2}(t_{1}-t_{2})^{2}(t_{2}-1)^{2}} - \frac{t_{1}\left(t_{1}^{2}+t_{1}-2t_{2}\right)\ln t_{1}}{2(t_{1}-t_{2})^{2}(t_{2}-1)^{2}} + \frac{t_{2}^{2}\ln t_{2}}{2(t_{2}-t_{2})^{2}(t_{2}-t_{2})^{2}}, \qquad (C.5c)$$

$$m_{3}^{4} \frac{\partial C_{1}[a_{3}]}{\partial p_{1}^{2}} = \frac{\left(-5t_{2}^{2}+9t_{2}-2\right)t_{1}^{2}-t_{2}\left(t_{2}^{2}-2t_{2}+5\right)t_{1}+t_{2}^{2}\left(t_{2}-1\right)^{2}}{6\left(t_{1}-1\right)\left(t_{1}-t_{2}\right)^{3}\left(t_{2}-1\right)^{2}} + \frac{t_{1}^{2}\left(t_{1}^{2}+2t_{2}t_{1}-3t_{2}\right)\ln t_{1}}{3\left(t_{1}-1\right)^{2}\left(t_{1}-t_{2}\right)^{4}}$$

(13) (1)

$$-\frac{t_{2}\left(t_{2}^{3}+2t_{1}\left(t_{2}-2\right)t_{2}^{2}+t_{1}^{2}\left(t_{2}^{2}-3t_{2}+3\right)\right)\ln t_{2}}{3\left(t_{1}-t_{2}\right)^{4}\left(t_{2}-1\right)^{3}},$$

$$m_{3}^{4}\frac{\partial C_{1}[a_{3}]}{\partial p_{2}^{2}} = \frac{\left(t_{2}^{2}-5t_{2}-2\right)t_{1}^{2}+t_{2}\left(t_{2}^{2}+2t_{2}+9\right)t_{1}-t_{2}^{2}\left(t_{2}+5\right)}{6\left(t_{1}-1\right)\left(t_{1}-t_{2}\right)^{2}\left(t_{2}-1\right)^{3}} -\frac{t_{1}^{3}\ln t_{1}}{3\left(t_{1}-1\right)^{2}\left(t_{1}-t_{2}\right)^{3}} +\frac{t_{2}\left(3t_{1}^{2}+t_{2}\left(t_{2}^{2}-4t_{2}-3\right)t_{1}+t_{2}^{2}\left(2t_{2}+1\right)\right)\ln t_{2}}{3\left(t_{1}-t_{2}\right)^{3}\left(t_{2}-1\right)^{4}},$$
(C.5d)
(C.5d)

$$m_{3}^{4} \frac{\partial C_{1}[a_{3}]}{\partial p_{12}^{2}} = -\frac{\left(t_{2}^{2} - t_{2} + 1\right)t_{1}^{3} - t_{2}\left(t_{2}^{2} + 2\right)t_{1}^{2} + t_{2}^{2}\left(t_{2} + 2\right)t_{1} - t_{2}^{3}}{3\left(t_{1} - 1\right)^{2}\left(t_{1} - t_{2}\right)^{3}\left(t_{2} - 1\right)^{2}} + \frac{t_{1}^{2}\left(t_{1}^{2} + \left(t_{2} + 1\right)t_{1} - 3t_{2}\right)\ln t_{1}}{6\left(t_{1} - 1\right)^{3}\left(t_{1} - t_{2}\right)^{3}} - \frac{t_{2}^{2}\left(t_{1}\left(t_{2} - 3\right) + t_{2}\left(t_{2} + 1\right)\right)\ln t_{2}}{6\left(t_{1} - t_{2}\right)^{3}\left(t_{2} - 1\right)^{3}}, \quad (C.5f)$$

$$m_{3}^{4} \frac{\partial C_{2}[a_{3}]}{\partial p_{1}^{2}} = \frac{\left(-t_{2}^{2} + t_{2} - 1\right)t_{1}^{2} + t_{2}\left(t_{2} + 1\right)t_{1} - t_{2}^{2}}{3\left(t_{1} - 1\right)^{2}\left(t_{1} - t_{2}\right)^{2}\left(t_{2} - 1\right)^{2}} + \frac{t_{2}^{2}\left(t_{2}^{2} + \left(t_{2} + 1\right)t_{1} - t_{2}^{2}\right)}{3\left(t_{1} - 1\right)^{2}\left(t_{1} - t_{2}\right)^{2}\left(t_{2} - 1\right)^{2}} + \frac{t_{2}^{2}\left(t_{2}^{2} + \left(t_{2} + 1\right)t_{1} - t_{2}^{2}\right)}{t_{2}^{2}\left(t_{2}^{2} + \left(t_{2} + 1\right)t_{1} - t_{2}^{2}\right)} + \frac{t_{2}^{2}\left(t_{2}^{2} + \left(t_{2} + 1\right)t_{1} - t_{2}^{2}\right)}{t_{2}^{2}\left(t_{2}^{2} + \left(t_{2} + 1\right)t_{1} - t_{2}^{2}\right)} + \frac{t_{2}^{2}\left(t_{2}^{2} + \left(t_{2} + 1\right)t_{1} - t_{2}^{2}\right)}{t_{2}^{2}\left(t_{2}^{2} + \left(t_{2} + 1\right)t_{1} - t_{2}^{2}\right)} + \frac{t_{2}^{2}\left(t_{2}^{2} + \left(t_{2} + 1\right)t_{1} - t_{2}^{2}\right)}{t_{2}^{2}\left(t_{2}^{2} + \left(t_{2} + 1\right)t_{1} - t_{2}^{2}\right)} + \frac{t_{2}^{2}\left(t_{2}^{2} + \left(t_{2} + 1\right)t_{1} - t_{2}^{2}\right)}{t_{2}^{2}\left(t_{2}^{2} + \left(t_{2} + 1\right)t_{1} - t_{2}^{2}\right)} + \frac{t_{2}^{2}\left(t_{2}^{2} + \left(t_{2} + 1\right)t_{1} - t_{2}^{2}\right)}{t_{2}^{2}\left(t_{2}^{2} + \left(t_{2} + 1\right)t_{1}^{2}\right)} + \frac{t_{2}^{2}\left(t_{2}^{2} + \left(t_{2} + 1\right)t_{1}^{2}\right)}{t_{2}^{2}\left(t_{2}^{2} + \left(t_{2} + 1\right)t_{1}^{2}\right)} + \frac{t_{2}^{2}\left(t_{1}^{2} + \left(t_{2} + 1\right)t_{1}^{2}\right)}{t_{2}^{2}\left(t_{2}^{2} + \left(t_{2} + 1\right)t_{1}^{2}\right)} + \frac{t_{2}^{2}\left(t_{2}^{2} + \left(t_{2} + 1\right)t_{1}^{2}\right)}{t_{2}^{2}\left(t_{2}^{2} + \left(t_{2} + 1\right)t_{1}^{2}\right)} + \frac{t_{2}^{2}\left(t_{2}^{2} + \left(t_{2} + 1\right)t_{1}^{2}\right)}{t_{2}^{2}\left(t_{2}^{2} + \left(t_{2} + 1\right)t_{1}^{2}\right)} + \frac{t_{2}^{2}\left(t_{2}^{2} + \left(t_{2} + 1\right)t_{1}^{2}\right)}{t_{2}^{2}\left(t_{2}^{2} + \left(t_{2} + 1\right)t_{1}^{2}\right)} + \frac{t_{2}^{2}\left(t_{2}^{2} + \left(t_{2} + 1\right)t_{1}^{2}\right)}{t_{2}^{2}\left(t_{2}^{2} + \left(t_{2} + 1\right)t_{1}^{$$

$$+\frac{t_1(t_1+(t_2+1)t_1-3t_2)\pi t_1}{6(t_1-1)^3(t_1-t_2)^3} -\frac{t_2(t_1(t_2-3)+t_2(t_2+1))\pi t_2}{6(t_1-t_2)^3(t_2-1)^3}, \quad (C.5g)$$
$$m_3^4 \frac{\partial C_2[a_3]}{\partial p_2^2} = \frac{(2t_2^2+5t_2-1)t_1^2 - (9t_2^2+2t_2+1)t_1 + t_2(5t_2+1)}{6(t_1-1)^2(t_1-t_2)(t_2-1)^3}$$

$$-\frac{t_1^3 \ln t_1}{3(t_1-1)^3(t_1-t_2)^2} + \frac{t_2^2(t_2(t_2+2)-3t_1)\ln t_2}{3(t_1-t_2)^2(t_2-1)^4},$$
(C.5h)

$$m_{3}^{4} \frac{\partial C_{2}[a_{3}]}{\partial p_{12}^{2}} = \frac{\left(-2t_{2}^{2}+9t_{2}-5\right)t_{1}^{2}+\left(-5t_{2}^{2}+2t_{2}-1\right)t_{1}+t_{2}\left(t_{2}+1\right)}{6\left(t_{1}-1\right)^{3}\left(t_{1}-t_{2}\right)\left(t_{2}-1\right)^{2}} + \frac{t_{1}^{2}\left(t_{1}^{2}+2t_{1}-3t_{2}\right)\ln t_{1}}{2\left(t_{1}-1\right)^{4}\left(t_{1}-t_{2}\right)^{2}-\frac{t_{2}^{3}\ln t_{2}}{2\left(t_{1}-1\right)^{2}\left(t_{1}-t_{2}\right)^{2}\left(t_{1}-t_{2}\right)^{2}},\tag{C.5i}$$

$$m_{3}^{2} \frac{\partial C_{00}[a_{3}]}{\partial p_{1}^{2}} = \frac{(t_{2}-1)t_{1}^{2}+t_{2}^{2}t_{1}-t_{2}^{2}}{12(t_{1}-1)(t_{1}-t_{2})^{2}(t_{2}-1)} - \frac{t_{1}^{2}(t_{1}(2t_{2}+1)-3t_{2})\ln t_{1}}{12(t_{1}-1)^{2}(t_{1}-t_{2})^{3}} + \frac{t_{2}^{2}(t_{2}+t_{1}(2t_{2}-3))\ln t_{2}}{12(t_{1}-t_{2})^{3}(t_{2}-1)^{2}},$$
(C.5j)

$$m_3^2 \frac{\partial C_{00}[a_3]}{\partial p_2^2} = \frac{t_2 (t_2 + 1) - t_1 (t_2^2 + 1)}{12 (t_1 - 1) (t_1 - t_2) (t_2 - 1)^2} + \frac{t_1^3 \ln t_1}{12 (t_1 - 1)^2 (t_1 - t_2)^2} - \frac{t_2^2 (t_1 (t_2 - 3) + 2t_2) \ln t_2}{12 (t_1 - t_2)^2 (t_2 - 1)^3},$$
(C.5k)

$$m_{3}^{2} \frac{\partial C_{00}[a_{3}]}{\partial p_{12}^{2}} = \frac{(t_{2}-1)t_{1}^{2}-t_{1}+t_{2}}{12(t_{1}-1)^{2}(t_{1}-t_{2})(t_{2}-1)} - \frac{t_{1}^{2}(t_{1}(t_{2}+2)-3t_{2})\ln t_{1}}{12(t_{1}-1)^{3}(t_{1}-t_{2})^{2}} + \frac{t_{2}^{3}\ln t_{2}}{12(t_{1}-t_{2})^{2}(t_{2}-1)^{2}},$$
(C.51)

where the derivatives of C_{00} carry units of m_3^{-2} and the others carry m_3^{-4} .

Finally the analytical expressions for the four-point functions are the following:

$$m_{4}^{4}D_{0}[a_{4}] = -\frac{t_{1}\ln t_{1}}{(t_{1}-1)(t_{1}-t_{2})(t_{1}-t_{3})} + \frac{t_{2}\ln t_{2}}{(t_{1}-t_{2})(t_{2}-1)(t_{2}-t_{3})} - \frac{t_{3}\ln t_{3}}{(t_{1}-t_{3})(t_{2}-t_{3})(t_{3}-1)},$$
(C.6a)
$$m_{4}^{4}D_{1}[a_{4}] = -\frac{t_{2}}{2(t_{1}-t_{2})(t_{2}-1)(t_{2}-t_{3})} + \frac{t_{1}^{2}\ln t_{1}}{2(t_{1}-1)(t_{1}-t_{2})^{2}(t_{1}-t_{3})} + \frac{t_{2}\left(-t_{2}^{3}+t_{3}t_{2}+t_{1}\left(t_{2}(t_{3}+1)-2t_{3}\right)\right)\ln t_{2}}{2(t_{1}-t_{2})^{2}(t_{2}-1)^{2}(t_{2}-t_{3})^{2}} - \frac{t_{3}^{2}\ln t_{3}}{2(t_{1}-t_{3})(t_{2}-t_{3})^{2}(t_{3}-1)},$$
(C.6b)

$$m_{4}^{4}D_{2}[a_{4}] = \frac{t_{3}}{2(t_{1}-t_{3})(t_{2}-t_{3})(t_{3}-1)} + \frac{t_{1}^{2}\ln t_{1}}{2(t_{1}-1)(t_{1}-t_{2})(t_{1}-t_{3})^{2}} \\ - \frac{t_{2}^{2}\ln t_{2}}{2(t_{1}-t_{2})(t_{2}-1)(t_{2}-t_{3})^{2}} \\ + \frac{t_{3}\left(t_{1}\left(t_{2}(t_{3}-2)+t_{3}\right)+t_{3}\left(t_{2}-t_{3}^{2}\right)\right)\ln t_{3}}{2(t_{1}-t_{3})^{2}(t_{2}-t_{3})^{2}(t_{3}-1)^{2}},$$
(C.6c)

$$m_{4}^{4}D_{3}[a_{4}] = \frac{t_{3} - t_{2}}{2(t_{1} - 1)(t_{2} - 1)(t_{2} - t_{3})(t_{3} - 1)} + \frac{t_{1}^{2}\ln t_{1}}{2(t_{1} - 1)^{2}(t_{1} - t_{2})(t_{1} - t_{3})} - \frac{t_{2}^{2}\ln t_{2}}{2(t_{1} - t_{2})(t_{2} - 1)^{2}(t_{2} - t_{3})} - \frac{t_{3}^{2}\ln t_{3}}{2(t_{1} - t_{3})(t_{3} - 1)^{2}(t_{3} - t_{2})}, \quad (C.6d)$$

$$m_{4}^{2}D_{-}[a_{1}] = \frac{t_{1}^{2}\ln t_{1}}{2(t_{1} - t_{2})(t_{2} - 1)^{2}(t_{2} - t_{3})} + \frac{t_{2}^{2}\ln t_{2}}{2(t_{1} - t_{3})(t_{3} - 1)^{2}(t_{3} - t_{2})}, \quad (C.6d)$$

$$m_4^2 D_{00}[a_4] = -\frac{t_1^2 \ln t_1}{4 (t_1 - 1) (t_1 - t_2) (t_1 - t_3)} + \frac{t_2^2 \ln t_2}{4 (t_1 - t_2) (t_2 - 1) (t_2 - t_3)} + \frac{t_3^2 \ln t_3}{4 (t_1 - t_3) (t_3 - 1) (t_3 - t_2)},$$
(C.6e)

$$m_{4}^{4}D_{11}[a_{4}] = \left(\left(t_{2}^{2} - 3\left(t_{3} + 1\right)t_{2} + 5t_{3}\right)t_{1}^{2} + \left(t_{2}^{3} + t_{2}^{2} + 3t_{3}^{2}t_{2} - 5t_{3}^{2}\right)t_{1} - t_{2}t_{3}\left(t_{2}^{2} + t_{3}t_{2} + t_{2} - 3t_{3}\right)\right) \times \frac{t_{2}}{6\left(t_{1} - t_{2}\right)^{2}\left(t_{2} - 1\right)^{2}\left(t_{1} - t_{3}\right)\left(t_{2} - t_{3}\right)^{2}} - \frac{t_{1}^{3}\ln t_{1}}{3\left(t_{1} - 1\right)\left(t_{1} - t_{2}\right)^{3}\left(t_{1} - t_{3}\right)} + \left(\left(\left(t_{3}^{2} + t_{3} + 1\right)t_{2}^{2} - 3t_{3}\left(t_{3} + 1\right)t_{2} + 3t_{3}^{2}\right)t_{1}^{2} + t_{2}\left(t_{2}^{4} - 3\left(t_{3} + 1\right)t_{2}^{3} + 6t_{3}t_{2}^{2} + t_{3}\left(t_{3} + 1\right)t_{2} - 3t_{3}^{2}\right)t_{1} + t_{2}^{2}\left(\left(t_{3} + 1\right)t_{2}^{3} - 3t_{3}t_{2}^{2} + t_{3}^{2}\right)\right) \times \frac{t_{2}\ln t_{2}}{3\left(t_{1} - t_{2}\right)^{3}\left(t_{2} - 1\right)^{3}\left(t_{2} - t_{3}\right)^{3}}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{3(t_1 - t_3)(t_3 - 1)(t_3 - t_2)^3},$$
(C.6f)

$$m_4^4 D_{12}[a_4] = \frac{t_2 t_3 (-2t_3 t_2 + t_2 + t_3) + t_1 ((t_3 - 1)t_2^2 + t_3^2 t_2 - t_3^2)}{6(t_1 - t_2)(t_2 - 1)(t_1 - t_3)(t_2 - t_3)^2(t_3 - 1)} \\ - \frac{t_1^3 \ln t_1}{6(t_1 - 1)(t_1 - t_2)^2(t_1 - t_3)^2} \\ + \frac{t_2^2 (t_2 (t_2^2 + t_3 t_2 - 2t_3) - t_1 (t_2 (2t_3 + 1) - 3t_3)) \ln t_2}{6(t_1 - t_2)^2 (t_2 - 1)^2 (t_2 - t_3)^3} \\ + \frac{t_3^2 (t_3 (t_3^2 + t_2 (t_3 - 2)) - t_1 (t_3 + t_2 (2t_3 - 3))) \ln t_3}{6(t_1 - t_3)^2 (t_3 - 1)^2 (t_3 - t_2)^3},$$
(C.6g)

$$\begin{split} m_4^4 D_{13}[a_4] = & \frac{t_1 \left((t_3 - 1) t_2^2 - t_2 + t_3 \right) - t_2 \left(t_2 \left(t_3 - 2 \right) + t_3 \right)}{6 \left(t_1 - 1 \right) \left(t_1 - t_2 \right) \left(t_2 - 1 \right)^2 \left(t_2 - t_3 \right) \left(t_3 - 1 \right)} \\ & - \frac{t_1^3 \ln t_1}{6 \left(t_1 - 1 \right)^2 \left(t_1 - t_2 \right)^2 \left(t_1 - t_3 \right)} \\ & + \frac{t_2^2 \left(t_2 \left(t_2^2 + t_2 - 2 t_3 \right) - t_1 \left(t_2 \left(t_3 + 2 \right) - 3 t_3 \right) \right) \ln t_2}{6 \left(t_1 - t_2 \right)^2 \left(t_2 - 1 \right)^3 \left(t_2 - t_3 \right)^2} \\ & + \frac{t_3^3 \ln t_3}{6 \left(t_1 - t_3 \right) \left(t_2 - t_3 \right)^2 \left(t_3 - 1 \right)^2} , \quad (C.6h) \\ \\ m_4^4 D_{22}[a_4] = - \frac{t_3 \left(t_3 - t_2 \right) \left(t_1 \left(t_2 \left(5 - 3 t_3 \right) + \left(t_3 - 3 \right) t_3 \right) + t_3 \left(t_2 \left(t_3 - 3 \right) + t_3 \left(t_3 + 1 \right) \right) \right)}{6 \left(t_1 - t_3 \right)^2 \left(t_2 - t_3 \right)^3 \left(t_3 - 1 \right)^2} \\ & - \frac{t_1^3 \ln t_1}{3 \left(t_1 - 1 \right) \left(t_1 - t_2 \right) \left(t_1 - t_3 \right)^3} + \frac{t_2^3 \ln t_2}{3 \left(t_1 - t_2 \right) \left(t_2 - 1 \right) \left(t_2 - t_3 \right)^3} \\ \left(\left(\left(t_3^2 - 3 t_3 + 3 \right) t_2^2 + \left(t_3 - 3 \right) t_2 + t_3^2 \right) t_1 \\ & + t_3 \left(\left(t_3 - 3 \right) t_3^3 + t_2^2 \left(t_3 - 3 \right) + t_2 \left(-3 t_3^3 + 6 t_3^2 + t_3 \right) \right) t_1 \\ & + t_3^2 \left(t_3^3 + t_2 \left(t_3 - 3 \right) t_3^2 + t_2^2 \right) \right) \times \frac{t_3 \ln t_3}{3 \left(t_1 - t_3 \right)^3 \left(t_3 - 1 \right)^3 \left(t_3 - t_2 \right)^3} , \quad (C.6i) \\ \\ m_4^4 D_{23}[a_4] = - \frac{t_1 \left(t_2 \left(t_3^2 + 1 \right) - t_3 \left(t_3 + 1 \right) \right) - t_3 \left(t_3 t_2 + t_2 - 2 t_3 \right)}{6 \left(t_1 - 1 \right)^2 \left(t_1 - t_2 \right) \left(t_1 - t_3 \right)^2} + \frac{t_3^3 \ln t_3}{6 \left(t_1 - 1 \right)^2 \left(t_2 - t_3 \right)^2 \left(t_2 - t_3 \right)^2} \\ & + \frac{t_3^2 \left(t_3^2 \left(t_3^2 + t_3 - 2 t_2 \right) - t_1 \left(t_2 \left(t_3 - 3 \right) + 2 t_3 \right) \right) \ln t_3}{6 \left(t_1 - t_3 \right)^2 \left(t_2 - t_3 \right)^2 \left(t_3 - 1 \right)^3} , \quad (C.6j) \\ \\ m_4^4 D_{33}[a_4] = - \frac{\left(t_3 - t_2 \right) \left(- 3 t_3 t_2 t_2 t_2 + t_3 + t_1 \left(-3 t_3 + t_2 \left(5 t_3 - 3 \right) + 1 \right) + 1 \right)}{6 \left(t_1 - 1 \right)^2 \left(t_2 - 1 \right)^2 \left(t_2 - t_3 \right) \left(t_3 - 1 \right)^2} \\ \\ \end{array}$$

$$-\frac{t_{1}^{3}\ln t_{1}}{3(t_{1}-1)^{3}(t_{1}-t_{2})(t_{1}-t_{3})}+\frac{t_{2}^{3}\ln t_{2}}{3(t_{1}-t_{2})(t_{2}-1)^{3}(t_{2}-t_{3})}+\frac{t_{3}^{3}\ln t_{3}}{3(t_{1}-t_{3})(t_{3}-1)^{3}(t_{3}-t_{2})},$$
(C.6k)

where $a_4 = \{m_1^2, m_2^2, m_3^4, m_4^2\}$ and $t_i = \frac{m_i^2}{m_4^2}$ for i = 1, 2, 3. Here D_{00} is defined with units of m_4^{-2} and all other four-point functions carry units of m_4^{-4} .

D Effective operator approach to neutrino masses

In terms of an effective field theory language using dimensional regularization and $\overline{\text{MS}}$, the dominant contribution to neutrino masses does not originate from \mathcal{O}_{11b} , but from \mathcal{O}_1 . We will argue this in the following. Assuming that $m_f \sim m_\phi \sim M \gg v$, we can match the full theory to the effective theory at the scale M. In particular, we generate a dimension-5 operator \mathcal{O}_1 by matching at two loop and the operator \mathcal{O}_{11b} via tree-level matching. The

Wilson coefficients C_1 (C_{11b}) of the two operators \mathcal{O}_1 (\mathcal{O}_{11b}) are given by

$$C_1 = 4 \frac{m_f y_b^2}{(2\pi)^8} \sum_{\alpha,\beta=1}^{N_\phi} \left(\lambda_{i3\alpha}^{LQ} \lambda_{3\alpha}^{df}\right) (I_{\alpha\beta}) \left(\lambda_{j3\beta}^{LQ} \lambda_{3\beta}^{df}\right) , \qquad (D.1a)$$

$$C_{11b} = \sum_{\alpha,\beta=1}^{N_{\phi}} \frac{y_b^2}{m_{\phi_{\alpha}}^2 m_{\phi_{\beta}}^2 m_f} \left(\lambda_{i3\alpha}^{LQ} \lambda_{3\alpha}^{df}\right) \left(\lambda_{j3\beta}^{LQ} \lambda_{3\beta}^{df}\right) . \tag{D.1b}$$

After EW symmetry breaking, \mathcal{O}_{11b} also contributes to neutrino masses, but its contribution is suppressed compared to the contribution of \mathcal{O}_1 by the bottom quark Yukawa coupling squared

$$m_{\nu} = \left(C_1 + C_{11b}\hat{A}_0(m_b)^2\right)v^2, \qquad (D.2)$$

where \hat{A}_0 denotes the finite part of A_0 . Hence the ratio of the two contributions is of the order of

$$\frac{C_{11b}\hat{A}_0^2(m_b)}{C_1} \sim \frac{m_b^4}{m_\phi^4},\tag{D.3}$$

and the contribution of \mathcal{O}_{11b} to neutrino masses can be safely neglected for M > v, since $y_b \ll 1$. Relaxing the assumption that $m_f \sim m_{\phi}$, we still arrive at the result that \mathcal{O}_{11b} can be neglected compared to \mathcal{O}_1 . However the resulting Wilson coefficients receive additional corrections due to running between the different scales m_{ϕ} and m_f .

Using a cutoff regularization scheme, the estimate of the different contributions to neutrino masses is different, since $A_0 \sim M^2$ and the effective operator \mathcal{O}_{11b} can be the dominant contribution to neutrino mass.

A similar discussion applies to other $\Delta L = 2$ operators. In fact, it is straightforward to generalize the argument to all $\Delta L = 2$ operators.

References

- P. Minkowski, μ→ eγ at a Rate of One Out of 1-Billion Muon Decays?, Phys. Lett. B 67 (1977) 421 [INSPIRE].
- [2] T. Yanagida, in Proceedings of the Workshop on The Unified Theory and the Baryon Number in the Universe, O. Sawada and A. Sugamoto eds., KEK, Tsukuba Japan (1979), pg. 95.
- [3] S.L. Glashow, in Proceedings of the 1979 Cargèse Summer Institute on Quarks and Leptons, M. Lévy et al. eds., Plenum Press, New York U.S.A. (1980), pg. 687.
- [4] M. Gell-Mann, P. Ramond and R. Slansky, in *Supergravity*, P. van Nieuwenhuizen and D.Z. Freedman eds., North Holland, Amsterdam The Netherlands (1979), pg. 315.
- [5] R.N. Mohapatra and G. Senjanović, Neutrino Mass and Spontaneous Parity Violation, Phys. Rev. Lett. 44 (1980) 912 [INSPIRE].
- [6] J. Kersten and A.Y. Smirnov, Right-Handed Neutrinos at CERN LHC and the Mechanism of Neutrino Mass Generation, Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 073005 [arXiv:0705.3221] [INSPIRE].
- [7] A. Pilaftsis, Radiatively induced neutrino masses and large Higgs neutrino couplings in the standard model with Majorana fields, Z. Phys. C 55 (1992) 275 [hep-ph/9901206] [INSPIRE].

- [8] P.B. Dev and A. Pilaftsis, Minimal Radiative Neutrino Mass Mechanism for Inverse Seesaw Models, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 113001 [arXiv:1209.4051] [INSPIRE].
- [9] M. Magg and C. Wetterich, Neutrino Mass Problem and Gauge Hierarchy, Phys. Lett. B 94 (1980) 61 [INSPIRE].
- [10] J. Schechter and J. Valle, Neutrino Masses in SU(2) × U(1) Theories, Phys. Rev. D 22 (1980) 2227 [INSPIRE].
- [11] C. Wetterich, Neutrino Masses and the Scale of B-L Violation, Nucl. Phys. B 187 (1981) 343 [INSPIRE].
- [12] G. Lazarides, Q. Shafi and C. Wetterich, Proton Lifetime and Fermion Masses in an SO(10) Model, Nucl. Phys. B 181 (1981) 287 [INSPIRE].
- [13] R.N. Mohapatra and G. Senjanović, Neutrino Masses and Mixings in Gauge Models with Spontaneous Parity Violation, Phys. Rev. D 23 (1981) 165 [INSPIRE].
- [14] T. Cheng and L.-F. Li, Neutrino Masses, Mixings and Oscillations in SU(2) × U(1) Models of Electroweak Interactions, Phys. Rev. D 22 (1980) 2860 [INSPIRE].
- [15] R. Foot, H. Lew, X. He and G.C. Joshi, Seesaw Neutrino Masses Induced by a Triplet of Leptons, Z. Phys. C 44 (1989) 441 [INSPIRE].
- [16] A. Zee, A Theory of Lepton Number Violation, Neutrino Majorana Mass and Oscillation, Phys. Lett. B 93 (1980) 389 [Erratum ibid. B 95 (1980) 461] [INSPIRE].
- [17] A. Zee, Quantum Numbers of Majorana Neutrino Masses, Nucl. Phys. B 264 (1986) 99
 [INSPIRE].
- [18] K. Babu, Model of 'Calculable' Majorana Neutrino Masses, Phys. Lett. B 203 (1988) 132
 [INSPIRE].
- [19] L.M. Krauss, S. Nasri and M. Trodden, A model for neutrino masses and dark matter, Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 085002 [hep-ph/0210389] [INSPIRE].
- M. Aoki, S. Kanemura and O. Seto, Neutrino mass, Dark Matter and Baryon Asymmetry via TeV-Scale Physics without Fine-Tuning, Phys. Rev. Lett. 102 (2009) 051805
 [arXiv:0807.0361] [INSPIRE].
- [21] M. Aoki, S. Kanemura and O. Seto, A Model of TeV Scale Physics for Neutrino Mass, Dark Matter and Baryon Asymmetry and its Phenomenology, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 033007 [arXiv:0904.3829] [INSPIRE].
- [22] M. Gustafsson, J.M. No and M.A. Rivera, The Cocktail Model: Neutrino Masses and Mixings with Dark Matter, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110 (2013) 211802 [arXiv:1212.4806] [INSPIRE].
- [23] P. Dey, A. Kundu, B. Mukhopadhyaya and S. Nandi, Two-loop neutrino masses with large R-parity violating interactions in supersymmetry, JHEP 12 (2008) 100 [arXiv:0808.1523]
 [INSPIRE].
- [24] K. Babu and J. Julio, Two-Loop Neutrino Mass Generation through Leptoquarks, Nucl. Phys. B 841 (2010) 130 [arXiv:1006.1092] [INSPIRE].
- [25] K. Babu and J. Julio, Radiative Neutrino Mass Generation through Vector-like Quarks, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 073005 [arXiv:1112.5452] [INSPIRE].
- [26] E. Ma, Verifiable radiative seesaw mechanism of neutrino mass and dark matter, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 077301 [hep-ph/0601225] [INSPIRE].

- [27] Y. Cai, X.-G. He, M. Ramsey-Musolf and L.-H. Tsai, *RνMDM and lepton flavor violation*, *JHEP* 12 (2011) 054 [arXiv:1108.0969] [INSPIRE].
- [28] E. Ma, Common origin of neutrino mass, dark matter and baryogenesis, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 21 (2006) 1777 [hep-ph/0605180] [INSPIRE].
- [29] T. Hambye, K. Kannike, E. Ma and M. Raidal, Emanations of Dark Matter: Muon Anomalous Magnetic Moment, Radiative Neutrino Mass and Novel Leptogenesis at the TeV Scale, Phys. Rev. D 75 (2007) 095003 [hep-ph/0609228] [INSPIRE].
- [30] K. Babu and E. Ma, Singlet fermion dark matter and electroweak baryogenesis with radiative neutrino mass, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 23 (2008) 1813 [arXiv:0708.3790] [INSPIRE].
- [31] E. Ma, Pathways to naturally small neutrino masses, Phys. Rev. Lett. 81 (1998) 1171 [hep-ph/9805219] [INSPIRE].
- [32] F. Bonnet, M. Hirsch, T. Ota and W. Winter, Systematic study of the D = 5 Weinberg operator at one-loop order, JHEP 07 (2012) 153 [arXiv:1204.5862] [INSPIRE].
- [33] P. Fileviez Perez and M.B. Wise, On the Origin of Neutrino Masses, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 053006 [arXiv:0906.2950] [INSPIRE].
- [34] S.S.C. Law and K.L. McDonald, The Simplest Models of Radiative Neutrino Mass: Excluding Simplified Zee Models and Beyond, arXiv:1303.6384 [INSPIRE].
- [35] Y. Farzan, S. Pascoli and M.A. Schmidt, Recipes and ingredients for neutrino mass at loop level, JHEP 03 (2013) 107 [arXiv:1208.2732] [INSPIRE].
- [36] S.S. Law and K.L. McDonald, A class of inert N-tuplet models with radiative neutrino mass and dark matter, JHEP 09 (2013) 092 [arXiv:1305.6467] [INSPIRE].
- [37] F. Bonnet, D. Hernandez, T. Ota and W. Winter, Neutrino masses from higher than D = 5 effective operators, JHEP 10 (2009) 076 [arXiv:0907.3143] [INSPIRE].
- [38] F. Bonnet, M. Hirsch, T. Ota and W. Winter, Systematic decomposition of the neutrinoless double beta decay operator, JHEP 03 (2013) 055 [arXiv:1212.3045] [INSPIRE].
- [39] K. Babu and C.N. Leung, Classification of effective neutrino mass operators, Nucl. Phys. B 619 (2001) 667 [hep-ph/0106054] [INSPIRE].
- [40] A. de Gouvêa and J. Jenkins, A survey of lepton number violation via effective operators, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 013008 [arXiv:0708.1344] [INSPIRE].
- [41] P.W. Angel, N.L. Rodd and R.R. Volkas, Origin of neutrino masses at the LHC: $\Delta L = 2$ effective operators and their ultraviolet completions, Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) 073007 [arXiv:1212.6111] [INSPIRE].
- [42] SUPER-KAMIOKANDE collaboration, Y. Fukuda et al., Evidence for oscillation of atmospheric neutrinos, Phys. Rev. Lett. 81 (1998) 1562 [hep-ex/9807003] [INSPIRE].
- [43] J. Bowes, R. Foot and R. Volkas, Electric charge quantization from gauge invariance of a Lagrangian: a catalog of baryon number violating scalar interactions, Phys. Rev. D 54 (1996) 6936 [hep-ph/9609290] [INSPIRE].
- [44] I. Baldes, N.F. Bell and R.R. Volkas, Baryon Number Violating Scalar Diquarks at the LHC, Phys. Rev. D 84 (2011) 115019 [arXiv:1110.4450] [INSPIRE].
- [45] J. Casas and A. Ibarra, Oscillating neutrinos and $\mu \rightarrow e, \gamma$, Nucl. Phys. B 618 (2001) 171 [hep-ph/0103065] [INSPIRE].

- [46] G. Passarino and M. Veltman, One Loop Corrections for e^+e^- Annihilation Into $\mu^+\mu^-$ in the Weinberg Model, Nucl. Phys. B 160 (1979) 151 [INSPIRE].
- [47] N.D. Christensen and C. Duhr, FeynRules Feynman rules made easy, Comput. Phys. Commun. 180 (2009) 1614 [arXiv:0806.4194] [INSPIRE].
- [48] T. Hahn, Generating Feynman diagrams and amplitudes with FeynArts 3, Comput. Phys. Commun. 140 (2001) 418 [hep-ph/0012260] [INSPIRE].
- [49] T. Hahn and M. Pérez-Victoria, Automatized one loop calculations in four-dimensions and D-dimensions, Comput. Phys. Commun. 118 (1999) 153 [hep-ph/9807565] [INSPIRE].
- [50] M. Gonzalez-Garcia, M. Maltoni, J. Salvado and T. Schwetz, Global fit to three neutrino mixing: critical look at present precision, JHEP 12 (2012) 123 [arXiv:1209.3023] [INSPIRE].
- [51] D. Forero, M. Tortola and J. Valle, Global status of neutrino oscillation parameters after Neutrino-2012, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 073012 [arXiv:1205.4018] [INSPIRE].
- [52] G. Fogli et al., Global analysis of neutrino masses, mixings and phases: entering the era of leptonic CP-violation searches, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 013012 [arXiv:1205.5254] [INSPIRE].
- [53] L. Lavoura, General formulae for $f_1 \rightarrow f_2\gamma$, Eur. Phys. J. C 29 (2003) 191 [hep-ph/0302221] [INSPIRE].
- [54] MEG collaboration, J. Adam et al., New constraint on the existence of the $\mu^+ \rightarrow e^+ \gamma$ decay, arXiv:1303.0754 [INSPIRE].
- [55] PARTICLE DATA GROUP collaboration, J. Beringer et al., Review of Particle Physics (RPP), Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 010001 [INSPIRE].
- [56] A. Baldini et al., MEG upgrade proposal, arXiv:1301.7225 [INSPIRE].
- [57] J. Hisano, T. Moroi, K. Tobe and M. Yamaguchi, Lepton flavor violation via right-handed neutrino Yukawa couplings in supersymmetric standard model, Phys. Rev. D 53 (1996) 2442
 [hep-ph/9510309] [INSPIRE].
- [58] J. Hisano and D. Nomura, Solar and atmospheric neutrino oscillations and lepton flavor violation in supersymmetric models with the right-handed neutrinos, Phys. Rev. D 59 (1999) 116005 [hep-ph/9810479] [INSPIRE].
- [59] E. Arganda and M.J. Herrero, Testing supersymmetry with lepton flavor violating τ and μ decays, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 055003 [hep-ph/0510405] [INSPIRE].
- [60] A. Blondel et al., Research Proposal for an Experiment to Search for the Decay $\mu \rightarrow eee$, arXiv:1301.6113 [INSPIRE].
- [61] R. Kitano, M. Koike and Y. Okada, Detailed calculation of lepton flavor violating muon electron conversion rate for various nuclei, Phys. Rev. D 66 (2002) 096002 [Erratum ibid. D 76 (2007) 059902] [hep-ph/0203110] [INSPIRE].
- [62] T. Kosmas, S. Kovalenko and I. Schmidt, Nuclear μ⁻e⁻ conversion in strange quark sea, Phys. Lett. B 511 (2001) 203 [hep-ph/0102101] [INSPIRE].
- [63] COMET collaboration, E.V. Hungerford, COMET/PRISM Muon to Electron Conversion at JPARC, AIP Conf. Proc. 1182 (2009) 694.
- [64] COMET collaboration, Y. Cui et al., Conceptual design report for experimental search for lepton flavor violating $\mu^- e^-$ conversion at sensitivity of 10^{-16} with a slow-extracted bunched proton beam (COMET), (2009).

- [65] MU2E collaboration, R. Carey et al., Proposal to search for $N \to e^- N$ with a single event sensitivity below 10^{-16} , (2008).
- [66] COMET collaboration, A. Kurup, The COherent Muon to Electron Transition (COMET) experiment, Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl. 218 (2011) 38 [INSPIRE].
- [67] R.K. Kutschke, The Mu2e Experiment at Fermilab, arXiv:1112.0242 [INSPIRE].
- [68] SINDRUM II collaboration, W. Honecker et al., Improved limit on the branching ratio of $\mu \rightarrow e$ conversion on lead, Phys. Rev. Lett. **76** (1996) 200 [INSPIRE].
- [69] M. Carpentier and S. Davidson, Constraints on two-lepton, two quark operators, Eur. Phys. J. C 70 (2010) 1071 [arXiv:1008.0280] [INSPIRE].
- [70] W. Altmannshofer, P. Paradisi and D.M. Straub, *Model-independent constraints on new* physics in $b \rightarrow s$ transitions, *JHEP* **04** (2012) 008 [arXiv:1111.1257] [INSPIRE].
- [71] W. Altmannshofer and D.M. Straub, Cornering new physics in $b \rightarrow s$ transitions, JHEP 08 (2012) 121 [arXiv:1206.0273] [INSPIRE].
- [72] UTFIT collaboration, M. Bona et al., Model-independent constraints on $\Delta F = 2$ operators and the scale of new physics, JHEP **03** (2008) 049 [arXiv:0707.0636] [INSPIRE].
- [73] R. Fleischer, Flavour Physics and CP-violation: Expecting the LHC, arXiv:0802.2882 [INSPIRE].
- [74] T. Inami and C. Lim, Effects of Superheavy Quarks and Leptons in Low-Energy Weak Processes $K_L \to \mu\bar{\mu}, K^+ \to \pi^+$ Neutrino anti-neutrino and $K^0 \leftrightarrow \bar{K}^0$, Prog. Theor. Phys. 65 (1981) 297 [Erratum ibid. 65 (1981) 1772] [INSPIRE].
- [75] M. Ciuchini et al., Delta M(K) and epsilon(K) in SUSY at the next-to-leading order, JHEP 10 (1998) 008 [hep-ph/9808328] [INSPIRE].
- [76] D. Becirevic et al., $B_d \bar{B}_d$ mixing and the $B_d \rightarrow J/\psi K_s$ asymmetry in general SUSY models, Nucl. Phys. B 634 (2002) 105 [hep-ph/0112303] [INSPIRE].
- [77] UTfit collaboration, http://www.utfit.org (2013).
- [78] L. Silvestrini, private communication (2013).
- [79] C. Bobeth, M. Misiak and J. Urban, Photonic penguins at two loops and m_t dependence of $BR[B \to X_s l^+ l^-]$, Nucl. Phys. B 574 (2000) 291 [hep-ph/9910220] [INSPIRE].
- [80] C. Bobeth, A.J. Buras, F. Krüger and J. Urban, *QCD corrections to* $\bar{B} \to X_{d,s}\nu\bar{\nu}$, $\bar{B}_{d,s} \to \ell^+ \ell^-$, $K \to \pi \nu \bar{\nu}$ and $K_L \to \mu^+ \mu^-$ in the MSSM, Nucl. Phys. **B 630** (2002) 87 [hep-ph/0112305] [INSPIRE].
- [81] LHCB collaboration, First Evidence for the Decay $B_s^0 \to \mu^+\mu^-$, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110 (2013) 021801 [arXiv:1211.2674] [INSPIRE].
- [82] LHCB collaboration, Measurement of the B⁰_s → μ⁺μ⁻ branching fraction and search for B⁰ → μ⁺μ⁻ decays at the LHCb experiment, Phys. Rev. Lett. **111** (2013) 101805 [arXiv:1307.5024] [INSPIRE].
- [83] CMS collaboration, Measurement of the B(s) to $\mu^+\mu^-$ branching fraction and search for B0 to $\mu^+\mu^-$ with the CMS Experiment, Phys. Rev. Lett. **111** (2013) 101804 [arXiv:1307.5025] [INSPIRE].
- [84] W. Rodejohann, Neutrinoless double beta decay and neutrino physics, J. Phys. G 39 (2012) 124008 [arXiv:1206.2560] [INSPIRE].

- [85] CMS collaboration, Search for third-generation leptoquarks and scalar bottom quarks in pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 7 \text{ TeV}$, JHEP 12 (2012) 055 [arXiv:1210.5627] [INSPIRE].
- [86] CMS collaboration, Search for new physics in events with same-sign dileptons and b-tagged jets in pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 7 \text{ TeV}$, JHEP **08** (2012) 110 [arXiv:1205.3933] [INSPIRE].
- [87] CMS collaboration, Search for new physics in events with same-sign dileptons and b jets in pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 8 \text{ TeV}$, JHEP **03** (2013) 037 [Erratum ibid. **1307** (2013) 041] [arXiv:1212.6194] [INSPIRE].
- [88] J. van der Bij and M. Veltman, Two Loop Large Higgs Mass Correction to the rho Parameter, Nucl. Phys. B 231 (1984) 205 [INSPIRE].
- [89] A. Ghinculov and J. van der Bij, Massive two loop diagrams: the Higgs propagator, Nucl. Phys. B 436 (1995) 30 [hep-ph/9405418] [INSPIRE].
- [90] K.L. McDonald and B. McKellar, Evaluating the two loop diagram responsible for neutrino mass in Babu's model, hep-ph/0309270 [INSPIRE].
- [91] G. 't Hooft and M. Veltman, Regularization and Renormalization of Gauge Fields, Nucl. Phys. B 44 (1972) 189 [INSPIRE].
- [92] A. Denner, Techniques for calculation of electroweak radiative corrections at the one loop level and results for W physics at LEP-200, Fortsch. Phys. 41 (1993) 307 [arXiv:0709.1075]
 [INSPIRE].